TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Introduction

1.1	About 1	Reliance	5
1.2	Relianc	ce 3 structure	6
	1.2.1	Development environment: Reliance design	6
	1.2.2	Runtime modules: Reliance runtime, Reliance server,	
		Reliance runtime server	6
	1.2.3	Web client: Reliance J	7
	1.2.4	Communication drivers	7
1.3	Basic p	program functions	8
1.4	HW an	d SW requirements	9
•	Decer	intion of the development environment	
۷.	Descri	iption of the development environment	
2.1	Starting	g the development environment	11
2.2	Descrip	otion of menu functions	12
	2.2.1	File menu	12
	2.2.2	Edit menu	13
	2.2.3	View menu	17
	2.2.4	Managers menu	17
	2.2.5	Project menu	18
	2.2.6	Tools menu	19
	2.2.7	Windows menu	20
	2.2.8	Runtime menu	21
	2.2.9	Help menu	21
2.3	Setting	up the development environment	22
	2.3.1	Configuring the toolbars	22
	2.3.2	Configuring the component palette	24
	2.3.3	Options	25
	2.3.3	3.1 Paths	25
	2.3.3	3.2 Key shortcuts	26
	2.3.3	3.3 Picture manager	26
	2.3.3	3.4 Project windows	28
	2.3.3	3.5 File types	30

2.4	Visualizin	g project
	2.4.1 Cr	eating a new project
	2.4.2 Pro	oject options
	2.4.2.1	Status message management
	2.4.2.2	Runtime module
	2.4.2.3	Window records
	2.4.2.4	DDE sharing
	2.4.2.5	WWW
	2.4.2.6	Miscellaneous
	2.4.3 Ac	cess right editor
	2.4.4 Cr	eating a shortcut to the project
	2.4.5 Fix	sing a project
25	Visualizin	g project window 49
2.0	251 Cr	eating a new window 49
	2.5.1 Or	nlicating a window 49
	2.5.3 Wi	ndow properties 51
	2.5.4 De	signing a window
0.0	M	5 5
2.6	Managers	
	2.6.1 De	scription of common commands
	2.6.2 Pro	Defining control and a control and control
	2.6.2.1	Defining control areas
	2.6.2.2	Defining computers
	2.6.2.3	Defining users
	2.6.2.4	Connecting stations
	2.6.2.5	Connecting databases
	2.6.2.6	Connecting printers for printing status messages
	2.6.2.7	Defining a network connection group
	2.6.2.8	Defining a network connection
	2.6.2.9	Defining a station provided through a network connection97
	2.6.2.10) Examples
	2.6.3 Sta	ition manager
	2.6.3.1	Defining a station103
	2.6.3.2	Importing and exporting variables109
	2.6.3.3	Defining a variable
	2.6.3.4	Defining a communication zone119
	2.6.3.5	Defining a status message123

	2.6.4	Database manager 128
	2.6.5	Trend manager 132
	2.6.6	Real-time trend manager
	2.6.7	Report manager
	2.6.8	Print report manager 146
	2.6.9	Recipe manager
	2.6.10	Picture manager 150
	2.6.11	Script manager
	2.6.	11.1 Time scripts
	2.6.	11.2 Key scripts
	2.6.	11.3 On value change scripts 158
	2.6.	11.4 Periodic scripts
	2.6.	11.5 Condition scripts
	2.6.	11.6 Event scripts
	2.6.	11.7 Setting up the Script manager
	2.6.12	Component manager
	2.6.13	Window manager
	2.6.14	Layer manager
2.7	Inform	ation window170
2.8	Standa	rd dialog boxes
	2.8.1	Color selection dialog box
	2.8.2	Font selection dialog box
	2.8.3	Selection dialog box
	2.8.4	Access rights selection dialog box
2.9	Compo	onents
	2.9.1	Common component properties 174
2.10	Tips a	nd tricks
	2.10.1	Adding several components of the same type to a window 178
	2.10.2	Fine moving and sizing components 178
	2.10.3	Selecting several components
	2.10.4	Defining a link to a variable or item
	2.10.5	Starting a project automatically after turning on a computer. 179
	2.10.6	Safe termination of a project during power failure
	2.10.7	Optimization of graphic efficiency
	2.10.8	Optimization of communications to subordinate stations 182

3. Technological data distribution over the Internet/intranet

3.1	Basic	principles of communication on the Internet	
	3.1.1	Services for publishing on the Internet	
	3.1.2	Java applets	
3.2	Relian	ce and the Internet/intranet	
	3.2.1	Reliance J	
	3.2.2	Starting Reliance J	
	3.2.3	Reliance J and data communication	
3.3	WWW	/ format export wizard	
3.4	SW re	equirements	195

4. Appendixes

4.1	Illegal	characters	196
4.2	File a	nd directory structure	197
	4.2.1	Reliance program files	197
	4.2.2	Visualizing project files	198
4.3	Point	rating of Reliance visualizing projects	201

VERSION 3.3 - NOVEMBER 2002

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 ABOUT RELIANCE

Reliance is a SCADA/HMI software package designed for monitoring and controlling technological processes in real time. *Reliance* takes advantage of many years of experience with the development of monitoring and controlling systems in various industrial areas (e.g. food processing, chemical, heating and power industry). It allows users to develop complex applications with the possibility of connecting to other information systems.

Reliance 3 brings significant improvements implemented according to our users' suggestions and our experience with the development of large applications. Thanks to the modifications made, application development is now much faster and easier than before.

1.2 RELIANCE 3 STRUCTURE

Reliance 3 consists of several SW modules described briefly in the following chapters.

1.2.1 Development environment: Reliance design

The development environment is a program designed for creating visualizing projects.

- Reliance design DESKTOP is a basic version of the program meant for developing applications without the possibility to distribute the data across a network.
- *Reliance design ENTERPRISE* is an enhanced version of the program that includes the ability to develop network applications.

1.2.2 Runtime modules: Reliance runtime, Reliance server, Reliance runtime server

The runtime module is a program designed for running a visualizing project on the end user's computer. The runtime module is a common term for the following programs: *Reliance runtime*, *Reliance server* and *Reliance runtime server*. These programs have an identical core and some basic functions – in particular communication to drivers of the connected stations, network communication to other runtime modules, logging data and alarms, executing scripts and recipes.

Reliance runtime

In addition to the basic functions of a runtime module, *Reliance runtime* allows the graphic display of technological data and alarms (current and historical), creation of printed outputs (reports or trends), user administration and logging on and off the program.

- *Reliance runtime VIEW* is a "view only" version of the program. It does not allow users to send commands to the technology.
- *Reliance runtime CONTROL* is a fully functional version of the program that allows users to send commands to the technology.

Reliance server

In addition to the basic functions of a runtime module, *Reliance server* is able to distribute technological data and alarms (current and historical) to *Reliance J* Web clients and execute the commands received from these clients. Therefore, *Reliance server* can be used as a data server for the Web clients.

Reliance runtime server

In addition to the basic functions of a runtime module, *Reliance runtime* server provides all the functions of the *Reliance runtime* and *Reliance* server programs.

1.2.3 Web client: Reliance J

The *Reliance J* Web client is a Java applet designed for running a visualizing project using a standard Web browser that supports the Java programming language (e.g. Microsoft Internet Explorer 4 and higher, Netscape Communicator 4 and higher). The Web client provides a powerful and easy way to access the technology from remote locations over the Internet/intranet. For more information on this topic, see the chapter 3. TECHNOLOGICAL DATA DISTRIBUTION OVER THE INTERNET/INTRANET.

1.2.4 Communication drivers

Communication drivers ensure the communication to technological stations (e.g. PLCs) and other I/O devices. *Reliance* includes native communication drivers for many types of I/O devices, e.g. *TECO*, *Allen Bradley*, *Modicon* and others. *Reliance* is also an *OPC client*, i.e. it is able to communicate to any I/O device for which an *OPC server* is available. *Reliance* also supports the GSM technology (sending and receiving SMS messages).

1.3 BASIC PROGRAM FUNCTIONS

- monitoring and controlling processes in real time
- archiving selected variables to databases
- creating and displaying trends of selected variables
- creating and displaying reports and print reports
- defining, archiving and displaying alarms
- defining users, access rights and restrictions
- multimedia support
- technological data distribution over the Internet/intranet
- Postmort, i.e. replaying the operation of the monitored process in a retrospective way
- ActiveX controls support
- multiple monitor system support
- verification of users by a fingerprint sensor
- recipe control support

1.4 HW AND SW REQUIREMENTS

Reliance 3 can be operated on computers running MS Windows XP/2000/NT/9x/ME operating systems. However, MS Windows 9x/ME operating systems are not recommended. To develop medium-sized applications (c. 2000 variables), we recommend the following minimum HW configuration: PC Pentium II, 350 MHz, Windows 2000, 64 MB RAM, HD 2 GB, 8bit graphic adapter, resolution 800×600 , parallel or USB port. The complete installation of *Reliance 3* requires c. 30 MB of free hard disk space.

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE DEVELOPMENT ENVIRONMENT

The *Reliance design* development environment is a program designed for creating visualizing projects.

The user interface of the program consists of several windows. These are the main window, containing the main menu, toolbars and the component palette, the *Component manager*, *Window manager*, *Layer manager* and *Information window*.



2.1 STARTING THE DEVELOPMENT ENVIRONMENT

The *Reliance design* development environment can be started from the *Start* menu or by using a shortcut on the Windows desktop.

When starting the program for the first time, you will be asked whether you want to associate the files with the *.prj* extension (*Reliance* visualizing project main files) with the program. This operation is called the registration of a file type in the operating system and allows opening files of that type by the specified program without needing to run the program in advance.

Registration of the files with the *.prj* extension can also be done later via the *Environment options* dialog (see the chapter 2.3.3.5 FILE TYPES).

Upon registration, the files with the *.prj* extension are marked as *Reliance Project* and they are assigned a specific icon. Thus, for example, a visualizing project can be opened by double-clicking on the shortcut to the main file on the Windows desktop.

2.2 DESCRIPTION OF MENU FUNCTIONS

This chapter describes commands that are available in the main menu. The detailed description of a command may include a picture and default key shortcut assigned to the command. To configure key shortcuts, use the *Environment options* dialog (see the chapter 2.3.3.2 KEY SHORTCUTS).

2.2.1 File menu

The \rightarrow *File* menu contains commands for creating, opening, saving and closing visualizing projects and project windows. The menu also contains a list of most recently open projects.



- **D** New project... This command is used to create a new visualizing project (see the chapter 2.4.1 CREATING A NEW PROJECT).
- Open project... (Ctrl+O) This command is used to open an existing visualizing project.
- Close project This command is used to close the open visualizing project.
- New window... This command is used to create a new window.
- Save window (Ctrl+S) This command is used to save the active window.
 - **Save window as...** This command is used to save the active window using a new name.
- Close window (Ctrl+F4) This command is used to close the active window.
 Exit This command is used to exit the program.

2.2.2 Edit menu

The \blacktriangleright *Edit* menu contains a set of commands for editing components in the active window. To use most of the commands, select the component(s) to which the command is to be applied and then select the command from the menu.



Undo (Ctrl+Z)	This command is used to reverse the last action taken. However, some actions cannot be undone.
≅ Redo (Shift+Ctrl+Z)	This command is used to reverse the last <i>Undo</i> command.
& Cut (Ctrl+X)	This command is used to delete the currently selected component(s) from the window and place it to the clipboard.
Copy (Ctrl+C)	This command is used to copy the currently selected component(s) to the clipboard.
Duplicate (Ctrl+D)	This command is used to duplicate the currently selected component(s). The contents of the clipboard remain unchanged.

Paste (Ctrl+V)	This command is used to paste the contents of the clipboard into the active window. The con- tents of the clipboard remain unchanged.
Delete (Del)	This command is used to delete the currently se- lected component(s) from the window.
Select all (Ctrl+A)	This command is used to select all the components in the active window.
Unselect all (Esc)	This command is used to unselect all the current- ly selected components in the active window.
Next component (Tab)	This command is used to select the next component in the Z-order.
Previous component (3	Shift+Tab)
•	This command is used to select the previous component in the Z-order.
Group (Ctrl+G)	This command is used to group the currently se- lected components, i.e. combine them into a single unit called a group. A group maintains a fixed spatial relationship between individual components and cannot be resized.
Ungroup (Ctrl+U)	This command is used to break the currently selected group into individual components.
Alignment	
E Left	This command is used to align the left edge of all selected components with the left edge of the leftmost selected component.
➡ Right	This command is used to align the right edge of all selected components with the right edge of the rightmost selected component.
🖺 Тор	This command is used to align the top edge of all selected components with the top edge of the topmost selected component.
🔚 Bottom	This command is used to align the bottom edge of all selected components with the bottom edge of the bottommost selected component.

🗏 Center vertically	This command is used to align the vertical
-	centerline of all selected components with
	the centerline of the group of components
	selected.

Center horizontally This command is used to align the horizontal centerline of all selected components with the centerline of the group of components selected.

📕 Space equally, vertically

This command is used to equally space all selected components vertically between the topmost selected component and the bottommost selected component.

🖭 Space equally, horizontally

This command is used to equally space all selected components horizontally between the leftmost selected component and the rightmost selected component.

Size

💼 Adjust width by smallest

This command is used to change the width of all selected components by the smallest selected component.

🗏 Adjust width by largest

This command is used to change the width of all selected components by the largest selected component.

地 Adjust height by smallest

This command is used to change the height of all selected components by the smallest selected component.

Adjust height by largest

This command is used to change the height of all selected components by the largest selected component.

Order

Bring to front (Shift+PgUp)

This command is used to move the currently selected component(s) in front of all other unselected components in the window. This is called changing the Z-order of the component(s).

Bring to front by one (Ctrl+PgUp)

This command is used to move the currently selected component to the front by one level. This is called changing the Z-order of the component.

🔁 Send to back (Shift+PgDn)

This command is used to move the currently selected component(s) behind all other unselected components in the window. This is called changing the Z-order of the component(s).

Send to back by one (Ctrl+PgDn)

This command is used to move the currently selected component to the back by one level. This is called changing the Z-order of the component.

- **Transformation...** This command is used to proportionally resize or (and) move the currently selected component(s).
- Align to grid This command is used to align the currently selected component(s) to the closest grid point.

Lock components (Ctrl+L)

This command is used to lock the position and size of all the components in the window.

Component properties... (Alt+Enter)

This command is used to bring up the property editor of the currently selected component (see the chapter 2.9 COMPONENTS).

2.2.3 View menu

The \rightarrow *View* menu contains commands for showing and hiding windows that belong to the development environment.

🔀 Reliance 3 - Koito						
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit	⊻iew	<u>M</u> anagers	<u>P</u> roject	Tools	<u>W</u> indows R <u>u</u> ntime <u>H</u> elp	
Component manager		F11 F12	▓ॏऀऄऀ ऄॣॳऀ ॾॎॴढ़ॎड़ॻॻ			
	SI SI	ayer manage tatus windov	v V			

Component manager (F11)

This command is used to show/hide the *Component manager* (see the chapter 2.6.12).

😹 Window manager (Fi	12)
	This command is used to show/hide the <i>Window manager</i> (see the chapter 2.6.13).
Layer manager	This command is used to show/hide the <i>Layer manager</i> (see the chapter 2.6.14).
📼 Information window	This command is used to show/hide the <i>Informa-</i> <i>tion window</i> (see the chapter 2.7).

2.2.4 Managers menu



Project structure manager

This command is used to bring up the **Project** structure manager (see the chapter 2.6.2).

-

Station manager	This command is used to bring up the Station manager (see the chapter 2.6.3).
Database manager	This command is used to bring up the Database manager (see the chapter 2.6.4).
🕮 Trend manager	This command is used to bring up the <i>Trend manager</i> (see the chapter 2.6.5).
📓 Real-time trend mana	ger
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	This command is used to bring up the Real-time trend manager (see the chapter 2.6.6).
🖻 Report manager	This command is used to bring up the Report manager (see the chapter 2.6.7).
🖻 Print report manager	This command is used to bring up the <i>Print report manager</i> (see the chapter 2.6.8).
🖻 Recipe manager	This command is used to bring up the <i>Recipe manager</i> (see the chapter 2.6.9).
💻 Shared picture manag	er -
	This command is used to bring up the Shared <i>picture manager</i> (see the chapter 2.6.10 PICTURE MANAGER).
🧖 Script manager	This command is used to bring up the Script ma-

2.2.5 Project menu



nager (see the chapter 2.6.11).

Access rights editor... This command is used to bring up the Access rights editor (see the chapter 2.4.3).

🗃 Export to WWW format...

This command is used to bring up the *WWW format export wizard*.

- Deptions... This command is used to bring up the Project options dialog.
 - Information... This command is used to bring up the Project information dialog. The dialog contains information on the number of variables and data points within the project (see the chapter 4.3 POINT RATING OF RELIANCE VISUALIZING PROJECTS).
 - Create shortcut... This command is used to bring up the Create shortcut to the project dialog (see the chapter 2.4.4).

2.2.6 Tools menu



Configure toolbars... This command is used to bring up the Configure toolbars dialog (see the chapter 2.3.1).

Configure component palette...

This command is used to bring up the *Configure component palette* dialog (see the chapter 2.3.2).

- Picture library This command is used bring up the Picture manager to view or edit the Picture library (see the chapter 2.6.10 PICTURE MANAGER).
 - Fix project...This command is used to bring up the Fix project
dialog (see the chapter 2.4.5 FIX PROJECT).
- Deptions... This command is used to bring up the Environment options dialog (see the chapter 2.3.3 OPTIONS).

2.2.7 Windows menu



Next window (F6) This command is used to change the active window to the next open window.

Previous window (Shift+F6)

This command is used to change the active window to the previous open window.

🖻 Open window list... (Alt+0)

This command is used to bring up the **Open** *window list*. Any window in the list can then be selected and activated.

Duplicate window... This command is used to bring up the Duplicate window dialog to duplicate the active window (see the chapter 2.5.2 DUPLICATING A WINDOW).

Window picture manager...

This command is used to bring up the *Picture manager* of the active window (see the chapter 2.6.10 PICTURE MANAGER).

Window properties... (Alt+Enter)

This command is used to bring up the property editor of the active window (see the chapter 2.5.3 WINDOW PROPERTIES).

2.2.8 Runtime menu

🔀 Reliance 3 - Koito						
<u>File E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew <u>M</u> anagers <u>P</u> roject	<u>I</u> ools <u>W</u> indows R <u>u</u> ntime	<u>H</u> elp				
1 1 1 2 2 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1) 🛍 🐹 🛅 🛛 🖢 Start	F9				
0. 🎭 🚓 🚃 🛷 🦕 🖙	Find Final Option	ns				

- ▶ Start (F9) This command is used to start the visualizing project in runtime mode. The development environment runs the runtime module of the specified type and passes the project name and location as parameters.
 - **Options...** This command is used to bring up the **Project options** dialog (see the chapter 2.4.2.2 RUNTIME MODULE). Here, it is possible to select the type of runtime module to run the visualizing project in runtime mode and configure the parameters affecting the appearance and behavior of the runtime module.

2.2.9 Help menu



Sontents and index... (F1)

This command is used to access the help system.

🔨 Reliance on Internet...

This command is used to open the *Reliance* Web page (<u>www.reliance.cz</u>) where you can find information about *Reliance*, including news and announcements, feature descriptions, and product downloads.

About Reliance... This command is used to view the version and license information for the *Reliance design* program.

2.3 SETTING UP THE DEVELOPMENT ENVIRONMENT

2.3.1 Configuring the toolbars

Toolbars

The main window of the development environment contains 5 toolbars.

Configure toolbars	×
Toolbars Commands	
	Le default settings
Component palette	
🗹 Standard	
Edit	
Custom	
<u> </u>	
Toolbar configuration	
Show tooltips	
🔽 Show key shortcuts on tooltips	
I▼ Snap floating toolbars to screen margins	
	Close

Component palette	This toolbar contains icons representing the com- ponents you can use to design your application interface. To rearrange the icons on the palette, use the Configure component palette dialog (see the chapter 2.3.2 CONFIGURING THE COMPONENT PALETTE).
Standard	This toolbar is designed for project operation commands.
Edit	This toolbar is designed for commands used when working with components.
Tools	This toolbar is designed for commands for opening individual managers.
Custom	This is a user-defined toolbar.

Toolbar configuration	
Show tooltips	This option determines whether to show a brief description of the command after positioning the mouse cursor over the toolbar button.
Show key shortcuts on t	<i>ooltips</i> This option determines whether to show key shortcuts on tooltips.
Snap floating toolbars to	o screen margins
	This option determines whether to attach floating toolbars to screen margins.

Commands

A toolbar can be configured by dragging any command available in the command list to the toolbar area with the mouse. Commands are wellarranged in groups according to their function. However, their position on individual toolbars is fully up to the user.



2.3.2 Configuring the component palette

The component palette contains icons representing the components you can use to design your application interface. Within the palette, the icons are divided into individual pages. By default, the palette contains the pages *Standard, Vectors, Teco, Sauter* and *Other.* Individual pages can be renamed and if needed, a new page may be added or an existing one removed. Installed components can be moved by dragging with the mouse into the page selected.



🖾 Add	This command is used to add a new page to the component palette, or install a new component from the »Components« directory.
eje Edit	This command is used to rename the page of the component palette.
Show	This command is used to show or hide the selec- ted component.
× Remove	This command is used to remove the selected page from the component palette, or remove the selected component from the page.

★ Move up	This command is used to move the selected page or selected component up by one position.
✓ Move down	This command is used to move the selected page or selected component down by one position.

2.3.3 Options

The *Environment options* dialog enables you to define paths, key shortcuts and other settings of the development environment.

2.3.3.1 Paths

nvironment options	
Province Options Environment Faiths Feaths Fource Project windows File types	Paths Project directory C\Reliance3\Projects\ Shared item directory C\Reliance3\Library\ Shared picture library directory
	C:\Reliance3\Library\Images\
	OK Cancel Apply

Project directory	This parameter specifies the path for storing visualizing projects.
Shared item directory	This parameter specifies the path for storing shared items.
Shared picture library dire	ectory

This parameter specifies the path for storing the shared picture library.

2.3.3.2 Key shortcuts

Environment options			×
Environment	Key shortcuts		
- Paths	File	Command	Shortcut
Electure manager	Edit	The Component properties	Alt+Enter
Project windows	Managers	Copy	Ctrl+C
File types	Project	🔏 Cut	Ctrl+X
	Tools Window	× Delete	Del
	Runtime	1 Down	
	Help	Duplicate	Ctrl+D
	AI	C Group	Ctrl+G
		R Left	
		E Lock components	Ctrl+L
		Next component	Tab
		🔁 Paste	Ctrl+V
		Previous component	Shift+Tab
		Right	•
	Shortcut:	Shortcut has a	Iready been assigned
	Ctrl + D	Assign shortcut to commands:	
		Hongi Honorcour	
		Default settings	
		OK Car	icel Apply

2.3.3.3 Picture manager

Environment options		×	
Environment	Picture manager		
- Paths Key shortcuts	Associated external editors of pictures		
Picture manager	😭 Use d	efault settings	
- Project windows	Picture format	Extension	
End types	Windows raster	BMP	
	CompuServe raster	GIF	
	JPEG raster	JPG	
	Enhanced Windows metafile	EME	
		LIM	
	Run application: 🔄 C:\ACDSee\ACDSee\ACDSee.exe		
	Parameters: \$(name)		
	Working directory: 🔄		
	Other parameters		
	Optimize saving pictures		
	OK Cancel	Apply	

Associated external editors of pictures

Here it is possible to associate external picture editors with the picture formats supported by *Reliance*. Thus, you can view or edit a picture with the specified editor directly from the *Picture manager* by invoking the *Edit picture* command. After closing the editor, you return to the *Picture manager*. By default, associations are adopted from the Windows registry.

Run application	This parameter specifies the path and name of the picture editor's executable file.
Parameters	This parameter specifies the parameters to pass to the picture editor at startup. By default, <i>Reliance</i> passes the picture name as a para- meter to the editor.
Working directory	This parameter specifies the path for storing temporary files.
Other parameters	
Optimize saving pictures	This option determines whether to optimize the pictures for size when saving to the database.

Previews

Here you can configure the appearance of picture previews displayed in the *Picture manager* if the *Miniatures* display style is used. You can specify the width and height of the previews. The previews can also display the picture size and file size.

Environment options			×
Environment Paths Key shortcuts Proteure manager Project windows File types	Preview size Preview size 100 kB 1024 x 768 Name Preview mode ✓ Display file size ✓ Display picture size	Preview width: 70 ✔ Preview height: 70 ✔	
		OK Cancel Apply	

2.3.3.4 Project windows

Environment options	×
Environment Paths Key shortcuts Project windows File types	Project windows Grid Size X 8 Size Y 8 Display grid in newly created windows Display grid in newly created windows Snap to grid in newly created windows Undo History step count 30 Image: Undo after saving changes After removing a window Image: Delete the window's sor file Image: Delete the window's picture database
	OK Cancel Apply

Grid Size X This parameter specifies the grid width. Size YThis parameter specifies the grid height. Display grid in newly created windows This option determines whether to activate the Display grid parameter in newly created windows. Snap to grid in newly created windows This option determines whether to activate the Snap to grid parameter in newly created windows. Undo This parameter specifies the number of edit *History step count* operations that can be cancelled (adding and deleting components and modification of their size, position and Z-order). Undo after saving changes This option determines whether to enable the user to use the Undo command after saving the window. After removing a window Delete the window's scr file This option determines whether to delete the window's *scr* file after removing the window from the project.

Delete the window's picture database

This option determines whether to delete the window's picture database after removing the window from the project.

2.3.3.5 File types

File type registration

Here, it is possible to associate files with the *.prj* extension with the *Reliance design* development environment.

Upon registration, the files with the *.prj* extension are marked as *Reliance Project* and they are assigned a specific icon. Thus, for example, a visualizing project can be opened by double-clicking on the shortcut to the main file on the Windows desktop.

Environment Paths Key shortcuts Picture manager Project windows File types Fi	Environment options	×
Paths Key shortcuts Project windows Register files with .prj extension as Reliance project File types Register files with .prj extension as Reliance project	Environment	File types
	Paths Key shortcuts Project windows File types	File types registration Register files with .prj extension as Reliance project
OK Cancel Apply		OK Cancel Apply

2.4 VISUALIZING PROJECT

A *Reliance* visualizing project is a group of files stored in a specific directory structure (see the chapter 4.2 FILE AND DIRECTORY STRUCTURE).

2.4.1 Creating a new project

To create a new visualizing project, choose the \rightarrow *File* \rightarrow *New project* command. First, you will be prompted to enter the name, comment and location for the new project.

🔏 Create new project 🛛 🗙
Name
Tannery
Comment
Visualizing project for monitoring and control of a tannery.
Location
☑ create a separate folder
C:\r3_enu\Projects\Tannery\
OK Cancel

After the new project is generated, you will be prompted to specify the parameters for the first project window.

🔏 New window	×
Caption	
AHU AE10B	
Name	
AE10B	1
File name	
C:\r3_enu\Projects\Koito\Win\AE10B.scr	1
OK Cancel	٦

For detailed description of the **New window** dialog box see the chapter 2.5.1 CREATING A NEW WINDOW.

2.4.2 Project options

2.4.2.1 Status message management

Status message database

Project options	×
Status message management Runtime module Window records DDE sharing Miscelaneous	Status message management Status message database Status message database © Create archive databases © Delete oldest messages after exceeding count: 2000 Database archive © After time interval © Delete oldest archive databases Max. archive database count: 24 © Limit analysed archive database count 12
	OK Cancel Apply

- Status message database These options determine whether to create archive databases or maintain the latest messages in the current database.
- Database archive These options determine the type of archive databases. Creating the archive databases can be either time-controlled or variable-controlled.

Delete oldest archive databases

These options determine whether to delete the oldest databases after exceeding the specified count.

Limit analyzed archive database count

These options determine whether and how to limit the number of archive databases analyzed during starting the project in runtime mode.

Sounds

These parameters enable you to configure sounds that can be played when a status message originates, ends or lasts. The sound files must be located in the »MMedia« directory.

Project options	×
Status message management Runtime module Window records DDE sharing Miscelaneous	Status message management Status messages database Sounds Default sounds On message origin: On message origin: Image:
	OK Cancel Apply

- Default sounds These parameters specify the default sounds in the *.wav format. The default sounds will be used for status messages that do not specify a particular sound.
- Lasting message sound These options determine whether and how often a runtime module should play the specified sound if the current message list contains at least one lasting unacknowledged status message.

Display

Project options	×
Status message management Runtime module Window records DDE sharing Miscelaneous	Status message management Status messages database Sounds Display Other parameters Message text font Font Message text. Image: Font the bottom panel Image: Font the bottom panel Image: Automatically hide the panel
	OK Cancel Apply

Message text font

This parameter determines the font of message texts in runtime mode.

Show messages in the bottom panel

This option determines whether to show a special panel in the bottom part of the runtime module's main window and display status messages in the panel.

Automatically hide the panel

This option determines whether to automatically hide the panel after acknowledging all the messages in the panel.

Other parameters

Project options	×
Status message management Runtime module Window records DDE sharing Miscelaneous	Status message management Status messages database Sounds Display Other parameters Online print ✓ Commands ✓ System messages ✓ Allow users to disable messages ✓ Access rights ✓ Disable alarms Access rights ✓ Enable alarms ✓ Min. delay between ridentical messages (ms):
	OK Cancel Apply

Online print These options determine whether to enable the online printing of status messages of a certain type in runtime mode.

• WARNING Laser printers cannot be used for this purpose!

Allow users to disable messages

This option determines whether to allow users to temporarily disable and enable status messages in runtime mode. If active, you can specify the access rights required for these operations. This feature can be useful for example in case of a long-term failure of the equipment to prevent alarms from being triggered.

Min. delay between identical messages (ms)

This parameter determines the minimum time period between the moment that the condition triggering a status message ends and the moment that the condition occurs again to trigger a new instance of the message.

2.4.2.2 Runtime module

Basic

Project options	×
Status message management Runtime module Window records DDE sharing Miscelaneous	Runtime module Basic Appearance Language Starting Runtime module Runtime module Generative Computer name: Image: Server1 Termination Access ights: Image: Computer Image: Comp
	OK Cancel Apply

Starting

Runtime module type	This parameter determines the type of run- time module (<i>Reliance runtime</i> , <i>Reliance server</i> , <i>Reliance runtime server</i>) to run the visuali- zing project in runtime mode when started from the development environment.
Computer name	This parameter determines the logical com- puter (defined through the Project structure manager) whose settings (e.g. IP address, system name, connected stations, etc.) will be used by the runtime module when starting the visualizing project from the development environment.
Termination

Access rightsThis parameter determines the access rights
required for terminating the visualizing pro-
ject running in runtime mode.Termination controlThese parameters determine whether the vi-

Termination control These parameters determine whether the visualizing project running in runtime mode can be terminated owing to changing the value of the specified variable. If the control variable's value changes to the specified value, the runtime module displays an information message regarding the termination. After expiration of the specified delay, the visualizing project is terminated.

Appearance

Main window background

These parameters determine the appearance of the runtime module's main window.

Display

Show start protocol	This option determines whether to show the start protocol while starting and terminating the visualizing project in runtime mode. The protocol contains a description of the ope- rations being performed while starting and terminating the project.
Show standard toolbar	This option determines whether to display the standard toolbar in the runtime module's main window. You can hide the standard toolbar and create your own one.

Language

This parameter determines the language version of the visualizing project. The selected language is used for all texts (i.e. menus, toolbars, etc.) in the runtime module. When developing a foreign-language visualizing project, set this parameter appropriately before designing project windows as it also affects the initial setting of components' font.

Project options	×
Status message management Runtime module Window records DDE sharing Miscelaneous	Basic Appearance Language Language versic Czech © English Polish © Russian Call
	OK Cancel Apply

2.4.2.3 Window records

In runtime mode, it is possible to make operating records for each visualizing project window. When activating a window (for which a new record has been made), the new record is signalized by changing an icon on the standard toolbar. This feature is useful for example in productions with a shift operation. Using this feature, the operators may pass on information in record format to one another. For example, if a failure occurs in the technology, a record can be made in the window related to the technology.

Enable window records This parameter determines whether to allow the users to access window records in runtime mode.

Access rights required for record deletion

This parameter specifies the access rights required for deleting an existing window record. To perform other operations on window records (e.g. view or write records), no specific access rights are required. However, the operator must log on to the program.

2.4.2.4 DDE sharing

The runtime module acts as a *DDE server* (see the chapter 2.6.3.3 DEFINING A VARIABLE).

Project options				×
Status message management Runtime module Window records DDE sharing WWW Miscelaneous	DDE sharing Replace invalid Replace by text: Array element divider:	values of variable	\$	
		OK	Cancel	Apply

Replace invalid values of variables

These options determine whether and how to replace the value of a DDE-shared variable when providing it to *DDE client* applications in case that the value is not valid (e.g. because of a failure in communication to the station).

Array element divider This parameter specifies the text to be used as element divider when sharing an array-type variable.

2.4.2.5 WWW

These parameters enable you to configure the communication between the data server and the *Reliance J* Web clients. Since only *Reliance server* and *Reliance runtime server* can be used as a data server for the Web clients, the parameters have no effect if *Reliance runtime* is used as a runtime module.

Project options		×
Project options Status message management Runtime module Window records DDE sharing www Miscelaneous	₩₩₩ ✓ Start the WWW client service after starting the Port number to be used by the WWW clients when connecting to the data server Client socket providing timeout (s) Client socket idle timeout (s)	× e project 40 000 10 30 4 30 4
	OK	Cancel Apply

Start the WWW client service after starting the project

This option determines whether to start the Web client service after starting the project in runtime mode. If active, the runtime module starts to act as a data server for the Web clients and enables them to connect to it via the TCP/IP protocol.

Port number to be used by the WWW clients when connecting to the data server

This parameter specifies the TCP/IP port number to be used by the Web clients when connecting to the data server. At the same time, the data server uses the specified port number to open a TCP/IP socket in order for the Web clients to connect to it. When a Web client connects to the data server, it is assigned a new port number. After that, the Web client closes the current TCP/IP socket and opens a new one using the new port number. It is recommended to use the default value.

Client socket providing timeout (s)

This parameter specifies the maximum time period for providing a Web client with a new port number. If the operation fails to complete within the specified time, the connection with the client is terminated and the service is ready for another client to connect.

Client socket idle timeout (s)

This parameter specifies the maximum time period for starting communication between a Web client and the data server using a new port number. If the Web client does not connect to the data server using the new port number within the specified time or no communication takes place between the client and the data server during this time, the port number is made available for another client.

2.4.2.6 Miscellaneous

Scripts

Project options	×
Status message management Runtime module Window records DDE sharing WWW Miscelaneous	Miscelaneous Scripts Components Naming rules Drivers Run script Image: Components AfterStartingTheProject Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Debugging scripts Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of the project Image: Comparison of
	OK Cancel Apply

Run script

after starting the	project	This parameter specifies the script to be run as the first script after starting the visualizing project in runtime mode.
Debugging scripts		
terminate script o	n error	This option determines whether to terminate a script if an error occurs while working with the <i>Reliance</i> -defined objects in the script.
[©] Recommendation	It is re ging pu defined other of	commended to activate this option for debug- urposes only. It only relates to the <i>Reliance</i> - objects (e.g. <i>R</i> , <i>RSys</i> , etc.). It does not apply to bjects or syntax errors of the <i>VBScript</i> language.

Components

Project options	X
Status message management Runtime module Window records DDE sharing WWW Miscelaneous	Miscelaneous Scripts Components Naming rules Drivers Display Image: Mark components with invalid links to variables Image: Mark components linked to variables with invalid values
	OK Cancel Apply

Display

Mark components with invalid links to variables

This option determines whether to graphically mark the components with invalid links to variables (e.g. link to a variable that was later deleted through the *Station manager*). If the option is active, such components will be marked with a red border.

Mark components linked to variables with invalid values

This option determines whether to graphically mark the components linked to variables with invalid values (e.g. link to a variable whose value has not yet been returned by the communication driver). If the option is active, such components will be marked with a yellow border.

Naming rules

Project options	×
Project options Status message management Runtime module Window records DDE sharing WWW Miscelaneous	Miscelaneous Scripts Components Naming rules Drivers Complete object name Character to be used to separate name parts when building the complete name of an object (e.g. variable):
	OK Cancel Apply

Complete object name

Character to be used to separate name parts when building the complete name of an object (e.g. variable)

This parameter determines the character used when building the complete name of an object (e.g. variable) to separate the two parts of the name. The default separator is the dot character.

- ← EXAMPLE If the default separator (the dot character) is used, the complete name of the variable *Temperature1* belonging to the station *Tecomat1* is displayed as *Tecomat1.Temperature1*.
- WARNING This character must not be included in the name of any object within a *Reliance* visualizing project!

2.4.3 Access right editor

In a *Reliance* visualizing project, there are 30 access rights available. These rights (named *Right1* to *Right30* by default) can be used to control the access to specific functions.

There is no hierarchy among the access rights – i.e. their sequence within the list has no meaning (Example: If *Right1* or *Right2* is required for setting the value of a variable using the Display component, the user with the *Right3* access right will not be allowed to perform the operation).

It is strongly recommended to rename the access rights on the functional basis.



嚾 Rename

This command is used to rename the currently selected access right.

2.4.4 Creating a shortcut to the project

To create a shortcut to the open project, choose the **Project** Create shortcut... command. This command brings up the Create shortcut to the project dialog box.

Create shortcut to the project	×
Application	
Reliance runtime	
Computer to run the project on	
🖳 MainServer	
Charlesterer	
Koito (MainServer)	-
Shortcut location	-
C:\Documents and Settings\Administrator\Desktop	
Comment	-
Create Close	

Application

This parameter determines the program to open the project.

Computer to run the project on

This parameter, which is only used when the *Application* parameter specifies a runtime module, determines the logical computer (defined through the *Project structure manager*) whose settings (e.g. IP address, system name, connected stations, etc.) will be used by the runtime module when starting the visualizing project through the shortcut.

Shortcut name This parameter determines the name of the shortcut.

- Shortcut location This parameter determines the folder to place the shortcut in. The default shortcut location is the »Desktop« folder of the user currently logged on to Windows.
- Comment This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the shortcut.

2.4.5 Fixing a project

To fix a visualizing project, choose the \rightarrow **Tools** \rightarrow **Fix project...** command. This command brings up the **Fix project** dialog box.

🔏 Fix project			×
Project			
C:\r3_enu\Projects\Ko	ito\Koito.prj		Start
Rebuild corrupt files	Rebuild all files		Close
File	Verification	Rebuild	
✓ Folders.db	Table has no errors.		
V Dispatchings.db	Table has no errors.		
Computers.db	Table has no errors.		-
Finished			

Rebuild corrupt files

Rebuild all files

This option determines whether to rebuild only the files that appear to be corrupt.

This option determines whether to rebuild all the files.

2.5 VISUALIZING PROJECT WINDOW

A visualizing project usually contains one or more project windows. A project window is designed to contain components from the component palette. Together with these components, the window becomes the user's tool for monitoring and/or controlling technological processes.

2.5.1 Creating a new window

To create a new window, choose the > *File* > *New window* command. This command brings up the *New window* dialog box.

New window	
Caption	
AHU AE10B	
Name	
AE10B	
File name	
C:\r3_enu\Projects\Koito\Win\AE10B.:	scr
	OK Cancel

Caption This parameter specifies the text to be displayed in the window's caption bar (see the chapter 2.5.3 WINDOW PROPERTIES).

Name This parameter specifies the window's name that must be unique within the project and cannot contain illegal characters. Using the window name, you can work with the window for example in scripts. The window name is also displayed in controls containing a link to the window.

File name This parameter specifies the complete name of the file for storing the window. It is automatically generated from the *Name* parameter.

2.5.2 Duplicating a window

To duplicate the active window, choose the > *Window* > *Duplicate window...* command. This command brings up the *Duplicate window* dialog box.

🔀 Duplicate window		×	
Caption			
AHU AE10C			
Name			
AE10C			
File name			
C:\r3_enu\Projects	\Koito\Win\AE10C.scr		
Substitute compo	onents' links to variables		
Source station	TSP2_AE10B		
Target station	TSP2_AE10C		
Remove the original link if a variable with the same name does not exist in the target station			
	OK Can	cel	

Caption

Name

This parameter specifies the text to be displayed in the window's caption bar (see the chapter 2.5.3 WINDOW PROPERTIES).

This parameter specifies the window's name that must be unique within the project and cannot contain illegal characters. Using the window name, you can work with the window for example in scripts. The window name is also displayed in controls containing a link to the window.

File name This parameter specifies the complete name of the file for storing the window. It is automatically generated from the *Name* parameter.

Substitute components' links to variables

This option determines whether to substitute components' links to variables while duplicating the window. If the option is active, all links to variables from the station specified by the *Source station* parameter will be replaced by links to same-named variables from the station specified by the *Target station* parameter.

2.5.3 Window properties

To view or edit the properties of a project window, choose the > *Window properties...* command from the local menu of the window or double-click the window. This will bring up the *Window properties* dialog box.

(i) NOTE Specification of certain properties will not take effect in the development environment, but in runtime mode only.

Basic

Window properties		X
Basic Background F	Properties [Window events [Mouse	events
Caption		
Overview		
Name		
Overview		
Comment		
Overview window		
Window type Standard Dialog Top tray Bottom tray Left tray Right tray	Parameters Show caption bar Dynamic loading Enable sizing Stay on top Exclusive mode	Show Maximized Centered As in design mode In a specified position
	OK	Cancel Apply

CaptionThis parameter specifies the text to be displayed
in the window's caption bar.NameThis parameter specifies the window's name that
must be unique within the project and cannot
contain illegal characters. Using the window na-
me, you can work with the window for example
in scripts. The window name is also displayed in
controls containing a link to the window.CommentThis parameter can be used to specify an optional
description of the window.

Window type

Unlike standard windows, dialog windows have a fixed size and always display a caption bar. These properties are optional for standard windows. Also, dialog windows can be closed by the user in runtime mode. A tray (top, bottom, left or right) is a special type of window that is aligned to the top, bottom, left, or right of the runtime module's main window.

Parameters

Show caption bar	This option determines whether to display the window's caption bar in runtime mode.
Dynamic loading	This option determines whether to load the window into memory only before it is acti- vated. If the window becomes completely ob- scured by other windows it is released from memory. If this option is not active, the window is loaded into memory right after starting the project in runtime mode and it stays in memory until the project is termi- nated. It is recommended to leave this option active for most windows.
Enable sizing	This option determines whether to enable the users to resize the window in runtime mode.
Stay on top	This option determines whether the window should stay on top of the other open win- dows in runtime mode – except for windows with the identical feature and trays.
Exclusive mode	This option determines whether the window should be displayed in the exclusive mode (modally). When the window is displayed in the exclusive mode, the user is not allowed to switch to another project window or to perform other operations within the runtime module until the window is closed.

Show

This parameter specifies how the window is to be displayed in runtime mode.

Maximized	The window fills the area of the runtime mo- dule's main window.
Centered	The window has the same size as in design mode and is positioned in the center of the runtime module's main window.
As in design mode	The window has the same size and position as in design mode.
In a specified position	The window's size and position is defined by the specified co-ordinates of the window's upper left corner.

Background

Window properties	×		
Basic Background Properties Window events Mouse events			
Background color	Grid I⊄ Show grid I⊄ Snap to grid		
✓ Picture Image: Second style ○ Tile ○ Centered ○ Specified position △ Adjust size by picture	Preview:		
	OK Cancel Apply		

Background color This parameter specifies the window's background color.

Grid

Show grid	This option determines whether to display dots on the window to make the grid visible.
Snap to grid	This option determines whether to align compo- nents in the window to the closest grid point.

Picture T	'his parameter specifies the picture to be dis- layed on the window's background.
Display style	This parameter specifies how the background picture is to be displayed.
Tile	The picture is drawn as tiles to fill up the entire window area.
Centered	The picture is positioned in the center of the window.
Specified position	The picture's position is defined by the specified coordinates (the <i>Position</i> para- meter) of the picture's upper left corner.
Adjust size by picture	This option determines whether to adjust the size of the window to the picture.

Properties

Window properties
Basic Background Properties Window events Mouse events
Access to window
Secure Config window access
Position and size
Position X 241 🐳 Width 703 🗮
Position Y 203 🗭 Height 338 🗲
☐ Show hint ☐
OK Cancel Apply

Access to window This parameter specifies the access rights required for accessing the window (i.e. activating the window).

Position and size	These parameters determine the window's position and size in pixels.
Show hint	This option determines whether to display the specified help hint when the mouse cursor rests momentarily on the window area.
Locked	This option determines whether the position and size of all the components in the window are locked.

Window events

These parameters enable you to specify the scripts to be executed when the window is loaded into memory, activated or deactivated. You can also specify the parameters to pass to the scripts.

Window properties		×
Basic Background	Properties Window events Mouse events	
Run script on		
Loading window	📚 🗙 WindowLoaded	6
Activating window	📚 🗙 WindowActivated	6
Deactivating window	😒 🗙 WindowDeactivated	6
	OK Cancel	Apply

Mouse events

These parameters enable you to specify the scripts to be executed when clicking or double-clicking individual mouse buttons on the window area. You can also specify the parameters to pass to the scripts.

Window propertie	2	×
Basic Backgroun	d Properties Window events Mouse events	
Run script on cl	icking mouse button	Parameter
Left	S X WindowClicked	6
Middle	≥ × ·····	0
Right	X	0
Run script on de	ouble clicking mouse button	
Left	X	0
Middle	≥ × ····	0
Right	≥ × ·····	0
	OK Cancel	Apply

2.5.4 Designing a window

To create a new window, choose the \rightarrow *File* \rightarrow *New window* command. Once created, the new window becomes active and is displayed on top of the other open windows.

				Con	nponent	palette		
		/ Compo	onent manag	er /	Window	v manage	r —	
🔀 Reliance 3 - Proje	ect1							- 🗆 ×
File Edit View Ma	anagers Project Tools	Windows Runtime Help	Standard	Vectors Teco Other				
		📈 🖻 🖾 💏 👜 🛙	T 👩	🗴 🖂 A 🗛 🔜	🗰 🌈 🚥	12 🕒 Ou 🖡	1 R. 🗆	\setminus
								\rightarrow
	≝a≯ /≞™	100 변역원.				<u>ା ୬ 🖷 🗖</u>		\rightarrow
Component manager	/ ×	🛒 Window1			- 🗆 🗡	Window manager	r i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	× ×
Properties Component	ts /					🗖 🌽 🎒 🗐		Υ
11 17 17 🙆	??					△ Caption	Name	ID
🗆 Local menu	•	Tout	0.00	**************************************		💽 Window1	Window1	1
Menu-left m. b.		Text	0.00					
Menu-middle m. b.		Taut	0.00	9 0				
⊟ Main			0.00					
Height	16	Tow	0.00	·				
Hint	Provide 1	I CAN	0.00					
Show hint	Progressbar I	Taut	0.00					
Width	100	Text	0.00					
×	294	Taut	0.00	Sec				
Y ⊡0ther	62	Text	0.00					
⊡ Alarm limit	(TCTProgressBarBo)	_		90				
Background color	Silver	lext	0.00					
Division				90				
Enreground color	Navy	lext	0.00					
⊡ Frame	(TCTFrame)							
Maximum	100	Text	0.00					
Minimum	0 mblamal					A004C A004C scr		
Orientation	oHorizontal							
Space	2							
⊡Warning limit	(TCTProgressBarBo					l 🖬 🚥 dia		_/
Scripts						🗹 Layer0		1
Mama						☑ Layer1		
name of the component						Layer2	/	′ –
						I Layers		
						Layer5		•
24 components		(Layer0		
Information	10	1				, -	_/	x
[191,68] Layer0	Name: Display1						/	
				La	ver man	ager —		
		\backslash		,		0		
			└── Proiect v	vindow				

When designing a window, add individual components from the component palette to the window. If the window is to contain a large number of components that overlap each other, it is recommended to use the layer system. Each component can be located on one of 16 layers. The layer may be hidden (all components located on this layer will be hidden in design mode) or locked (all components located on this layer will be locked in design mode) as needed. The component selected on the palette by clicking the left mouse button may be placed into the window either with its default size (by clicking on the window area), or with the size defined by dragging the mouse inside the window area (before releasing the mouse button).

☺ HINT To add several components of the same type, press the *Shift* key while selecting the component on the palette.

To change the position or size of components or component groups, edit functions may also be used – e.g. centering, alignment, changing the Z-order, modification of height and width, transformation, etc. The *Undo* and *Redo* commands allow you to undo and redo up to the last 100 edit actions.

The last step when designing a window is configuring the properties of the components, which affects their appearance and behavior. To configure the properties of a single component, use the component's property editor (double-click the component or choose the \rightarrow *Component properties...* command from the component's local menu). The properties of individual components differ depending on their type. For more information on the available components, see the chapter 2.9 COMPONENTS.

IINT To configure the properties of several components at the same time, select the components and edit their properties through the *Component manager*.

2.6 MANAGERS

The managers are windows designed to define and configure the objects that are the building blocks of every *Reliance* visualizing project. These are computers, users, stations, databases, trends, reports, print reports, recipes, scripts, windows, components and others.

Most of the managers have a uniform appearance and behavior. The following figure illustrates the appearance of most of the managers.



– Bottom left pane

Toolbar

Most of the commands on the toolbar are common to all managers (see the chapter 2.6.1 DESCRIPTION OF COMMON COMMANDS).

Top left pane

The top left pane displays the objects in a hierarchical tree diagram in order to show the subordination of one object to another. The diagram only allows you to select and edit one object at a time. When you select an object in the tree diagram, the manager displays the subordinated objects in the bottom left pane and the object's parameters in the right pane.

Bottom left pane

The bottom left pane displays the objects in a list. These are the objects subordinated to the object selected in the top left pane. The list allows you to select and edit several objects at a time. When you select an object in the list, the manager displays the object's parameters in the right pane.

Right pane

The right pane displays parameters of the object(s) selected in the top left or bottom left pane. The parameters can be edited as needed. When you edit a parameter, the corresponding control changes its color to yellow. This status is also indicated by a red exclamation mark displayed beside the edited object(s) in the top left and bottom left pane. When the selection is about to change, the manager checks all the edited parameters to see if they are correct. If so, the manager assigns the edited parameters to the selected object(s) and the red exclamation mark changes its color to blue. Otherwise, the selection remains unchanged. If the edits have been assigned to the selected object(s), they can later be saved to the databases by the *Save changes* command or canceled by the *Cancel* command. Naturally, you can also edit a parameter and use the *Save changes* command immediately. The manager checks all the edited parameters to see if they are correct. If so, the manager assigns the edited parameters to the selected object(s) and saves the object(s) to the databases.

2.6.1 Description of common commands

Dev folder (Alt+Ins)	This command is used to create a new folder. The type of the newly created folder depends on the object selected when invoking the command.
New object (Ins)	This command is used to create a new object. The type of the newly created object depends on the object selected when invoking the command.

s)	Cancel	last	changes	(Ctrl+Z)
----	--------	------	---------	----------

This command is used to cancel the edits that have not yet been assigned to the selected object(s).

- **Copy** (*Ctrl+C*) This command is used to copy the currently selected object(s) to the clipboard.
- **Cut** (*Ctrl+X*) This command is used to delete the currently selected object(s) from the structure and place it to the clipboard.
- Paste (Ctrl+V) This command is used to paste the contents of the clipboard into the structure. The contents of the clipboard remain unchanged.
- **Duplicate** (*Ctrl+D*) This command is used to duplicate the currently selected object(s). The contents of the clipboard remain unchanged.
- **Delete** (Del) This command is used to delete the currently selected object(s) from the structure.
- Display This command is used to change the display style of the objects listed in the bottom left pane of the manager.

Alphabetically sort objects

This command is used to alphabetically sort the objects directly subordinated to the object selected in the tree diagram.

- Devel up This command is used to move the selection one level up in the tree diagram.
- Find object (Ctrl+F) This command is used to bring up the Find object dialog to search for an object by its name.
- **Deptions** This command is used to bring up the **Options** dialog to view or configure the settings related to the manager.

2.6.2 Project structure manager

The **Project structure manager** is a tool designed for defining the structure of the entire visualizing project. It enables you to define the structure consisting of control areas, computers, users, network connections, stations, databases and other objects, so that it corresponds to a real plant site.

A visualizing project always comprises at least one control area. The control area comprises at least one computer and any number of users. The objects defined through other managers, such as stations, databases, trends and reports, can be made accessible to a computer by connecting them to the computer, i.e. adding links to the objects to the computer's appropriate folder. To easily understand the architecture of a visualizing project, see the examples at the end of this chapter.

2.6.2.1 Defining control areas

The control area is an independent unit representing a separate locality, where one or more computers designed for running the visualizing project are located. Computers and users can be defined within the control area.



Name	This parameter specifies the control area's name that must be unique within the project and cannot contain illegal characters.
Comment	This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the control area.

2.6.2.2 Defining computers

The computer, also referred to as logical computer, is an object representing the actual computer on which the visualizing project will be running at the end user site.

Identification



Computer name This parameter specifies the computer's name that must be unique within the project and cannot contain illegal characters.

System name This parameter specifies the name of the actual computer within the computer network.

- *IP address* This parameter specifies the IP address of the actual computer within the computer network. If the actual computer has a DHCP-assigned IP address, leave the parameter blank.
- **RECOMMENDATION** It is recommended to specify the *IP address* parameter. However, if the actual computer has a DHCPassigned IP address, the *System name* parameter will be used instead. If both of these parameters are specified, the *IP address* parameter will be used in preference to the *System name* parameter).
- Initial window This parameter specifies the project window to appear as the first window after starting the visualizing project in runtime mode on the computer.
- *Comment* This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the computer.

Configuration

🖾 Project structure manager	
	Restrictions SMTP GSM WWW Postmort Identification Configuration Parameters User logon
Project Koito P	Computer configuration • Intel® Pentium® 4 processor 2.0GHz • 256MB DDR SDRAM, 60GB* hard drive • DDRW drive (40x/10x/40x), 16x max. speed DVD drive • Integrated Intel Extreme graphics with up to 64MB shared video memory
Stations Databases Trends Reports Print reports Recipes	
ID=1 Project Koito\MainControlArea\Computers\S	OK Cancel Save changes

Computer configuration This parameter can be used to specify the computer's hardware configuration.

Parameters



2 Monitors

These parameters allow you to configure the behavior of the runtime module when operating on a multi-monitor system.

Status message databases

Primary directory	This parameter specifies the primary directory for storing the databases of status messages.
Standby directory	This parameter specifies the standby directory for storing the databases of status messages. It will only be used when the primary directory is not available.

Computer creates status messages database archives

This option determines whether the runtime module running on the computer should create archive databases of status messages.

Disabled windows	This parameter specifies a list of project windows
	that should not be available to the user in run-
	time mode.

User log-on



Sounds

These parameters specify the sounds to be played when the user logs on and out. The sound files (files in the *.*wav* format) must be located in the »MMedia« subdirectory of the visualizing project.

Log-on by a HW code sensor

This parameter determines whether a HW code sensor will be connected to the computer to enable the users to log on to the program using a special card with a unique code.

Log-on by a fingerprint sensor

This parameter determines whether a fingerprint sensor will be connected to the computer to verify the users by their fingerprints when logging on to the program.

Restrictions

These options determine the access restrictions applied when no user is logged on to the program.



Disable the "Start" menu This option determines whether to disable using the Windows **Start** menu.

Hide Windows main panel

This option determines whether to hide the Windows main panel.

Hide icons on the desktop	This option determines whether to hide icons on the Windows desktop.
Disable minimizing the ru	<i>ntime module</i> This option determines whether to disable minimi- zing the main window of the runtime module.
Disable moving the runtin	<i>ne module</i> This option determines whether to disable moving the main window of the runtime module.
Disable printing status me	<i>essages, trends, reports</i> This option determines whether to disable prin- ting status messages, trends and reports. However, this option only applies to printing invoked by the user. It does not affect online printing status messages.
Disable editing trends	This option determines whether to disable editing trends via the <i>Trend manager</i> .
Disable editing reports	This option determines whether to disable editing reports via the <i>Report manager</i> .

SMTP

These parameters enable you to configure the settings related to sending e-mail messages by the runtime module.

M Project structure manager	
Computers Constant and a constant and constant and constant and a constant and a constant and a consta	Identification Configuration Parameters User logon Restrictions SMTP GSM WWW Postmott SMTP server (name or address): 10.0.0.2 Image: Contract of the server of the
Tends Project Koito\MainControlArea\Computers\C	OK Cancel Save changes

SMTP server (name or address)

This parameter specifies the name or IP address of the SMTP server to be used for sending e-mail messages.

- Port numberThis parameter specifies the port used by the
SMTP server for sending e-mail messages.
- Connection timeout (ms) This parameter specifies the maximum time period for the runtime module to connect to the SMTP server.
- Sender address This parameter specifies the e-mail address of the sender.

Sender name This parameter specifies the name of the sender.

User ID

This parameter specifies the identification string of the user. It must only be specified if the SMTP server requires a certain form of authentication.

GSM

These parameters allow you to configure the settings related to sending and receiving SMS messages by the runtime module.

🔀 Project structure manager	
<mark>□ □ ◎ ◎ は</mark> ∽ ₪ % ₪ <u>□</u> × Ⅲ 41 집 집	Identification Configuration Parameters User logon Restrictions SMTP GSM WWW Postmort
	Start GSM driver GSM device type: Siemens M20 Communication parameters COM Port: 1 Communication speed: 13200 bd Data bit count: 8 Stop bit count: 1 Parity: none
Tends	SMS service center number: +420602909909 Run script on receiving SMS: Process_SMS
ID=1 Project Koito\MainControlArea\Computers\S	Lancel Save changes

Start GSM driver This option determines whether to launch a GSM device driver when starting the visualizing project in runtime mode.

GSM device type This parameter specifies the type of GSM device to be used for sending and receiving SMS messages.

Communication parameters

These parameters enable you to configure the connection to the computer using the RS232 interface (serial port number, communication speed in bauds, number of data and stop bits, parity).

SMS service center number

This parameter specifies the telephone number of the SMS service center depending on the provider (T-Mobile, etc.). Run script on receiving SMS

This parameter specifies the script to be executed each time the GSM device receives a SMS. The received SMS is passed to the script as a parameter.

For more information see the Script help. Sending and receiving SMS using *Reliance* is demonstrated in the example located in the »Examples« directory on your hard disk or on the installation CD.

WWW

These parameters allow you to configure whether and how the runtime module distributes current technological data to *Reliance J* Web clients using the MEM files. For more information on this topic, see the chapter 3. TECH-NOLOGICAL DATA DISTRIBUTION OVER THE INTERNET/INTRANET).



Save data for Reliance J applet

This option determines whether to periodically save current technological data to the MEM files for the Web clients. The Web clients obtain the data by periodically reading the files.

Directory for saving WEB.MEM and SYS.MEM files

	This parameter specifies the path for saving
	the MEM files. The MEM files must be loca-
	ted in the same directory on the Web server as the visualizing project in the WWW format.
Saving interval (s)	This parameter specifies the time period used for saving the MEM files.

Postmort

These parameters allow you to configure the Postmort function. If the function is activated, the runtime module records changes in technological data of the controlled process on a real-time basis into special data files. Later, the operator can switch from online mode to Postmort mode and view the process retrospectively. Thus, for example, it is possible to analyze the cause of a technology failure.

It is highly recommended to use different computers for storing and viewing Postmort records, because both cannot be done at the same time.


Record postmort	This parameter determines whether to activate re- cording the process.
Max. record length (day c	ount)
	This parameter specifies the maximum record length, i.e. number of days recorded.
Directory	This parameter specifies the directory for storing the files containing Postmort records.

2.6.2.3 Defining users

Parameters



Name

This parameter specifies the user's name that must be unique within the control area and cannot contain illegal characters. The name is entered by the user when logging on to the program.

Password	This parameter specifies the password that is entered by the user when logging on to the program.
Confirm password	This parameter must have the same value as the $\ensuremath{\textit{Password}}$ parameter.
HW code	This parameter specifies the code assigned to the user if logging on by HW code sensor is used. Otherwise, the value is ignored.
Active user	This option determines whether the user's account is active. It allows you to temporarily enable or disable the user to log on to the program.
Log user log-on	This option determines whether to log the infor- mation about logging the user on to the program to the database of system messages.
Log user log-out	This option determines whether to log the infor- mation about logging the user out of the program to the database of system messages.
User administrator	This option determines whether to allow the user to administrate users in runtime mode. If the option is active, the user can add new users and modify or delete existing users.
Comment	This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the user.

Access rights

These options specify the user's access rights to the program (see also the chapter 2.4.3 ACCESS RIGHTS EDITOR). For example, if the *Commanding* access right is required for switching on o pump by the *Button* component, it can only be done by the user(s) who has been assigned this access right.

M Project structure manager		_ 🗆 ×
Project structure manager Project structure manager Project Kolo Project	User parameters Access rights Restrictions Servicing right Select all Edt Config window access Commanding Common alarm ack Serious alarm ack Critical alarm ack Disable alarms Delete window records Right10 Right11 Right12 Right13 Right14 Right15 Right16 Right16 Right16 Right16 Right16 Right17 Right16 Right17 Right16 Right16 Right17 Right16	
I ID=3 Project Koito\MainControlArea\Users\Dperal	OK Cancel Save ch	anges

Servicing rightThis option determines whether the user has
a special right that ensures the user cannot be
modified or deleted in runtime mode via the User
manager by a user administrator that has not
been assigned the Servicing right. This right can
only be activated through this parameter in the
development environment. This feature enables
Reliance system integrators to secure certain parts
of the application from other users.Select allThis command is used to select all the rights in
the list.

Edit This command is used to bring up the *Access rights editor* to rename the rights (see the chapter 2.4.3).

Restrictions

These options determine the access restrictions applied when the user logs on to the program. After logging the user out of the program, the default restrictions configured for the computer are restored (see the chapter 2.6.2.2 DEFINING COMPUTERS).



Disable the 'Start' menu This option determines whether to disable using the Windows **Start** menu.

Hide Windows main panel

This option determines whether to hide the Windows main panel.

Hide icons on the desktop This option determines whether to hide icons on the Windows desktop.

Disable minimizing the runtime module

This option determines whether to disable minimizing the main window of the runtime module. Disable moving the runtime module

This option determines whether to disable moving the main window of the runtime module.

Disable printing status messages, trends, reports...

This option determines whether to disable printing status messages, trends and reports. However, this option only applies to printing invoked by the user. It does not affect online printing status messages.

Disable editing trends This option determines whether to disable editing trends via the **Trend manager**.

```
Disable editing reports This option determines whether to disable editing reports via the Report manager.
```

2.6.2.4 Connecting stations

To make a station (e.g. PLC previously defined via the *Station manager*) accessible to the runtime module running on the actual computer, you have to add a link to the station object to the logical computer's *Stations* folder. This is called connecting a station to a computer.

Basic



Connection enabled

This option determines whether to make the station accessible to the computer. If the option is not active, the runtime module acts as if the station was not connected to the computer (i.e. as if the link to the station were not contained in the *Stations* folder) and ignores this station and its subordinated objects (variables, communication zones and status messages) when loading the visualizing project. It can be useful when debugging the application to speed up starting the project in runtime mode if concentrating only on certain stations.

Comment

This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the connected station.

Connection

M Project structure manager		- 🗆 🗵
🗅 🗅 🚅 😫 🗠 🖻 🗼 💼 📴 🗙	Basic Connection MEM file	
Image: Servers Image:	Basic Connection MEM file Connection	
Allen_Bradley1	type: prozec	
ID=6 Project Koito\MainControlArea\Computers\S	OK Cancel Save char	iges

Direct

If this option is active, the runtime module is connected to the station through a communication driver.

MEM file If this option is active, the runtime module obtains current data of the station by periodically reading a MEM file updated by a runtime module running on another computer. The MEM file contains a binary image of the station's memory.

Basic

Most of the connection parameters are specific to particular station types and are described at the end of this chapter.

Online This option determines whether the communication driver attempts to establish a connection to the station. The option only applies to communication drivers that support offline mode (in offline mode, the driver does not attempt to establish a connection to the station).

🔀 Project structure manager	
🗅 🗅 😅 😫 🗠 🖻 👗 💼 🙀 🗙 👘	Basic Connection MEM file
j 🕮 ĝ↓ 🖻 🔕	Connection
Computers	O Direct O MEM file
	Basic Driver Events
	Connect to driver
Trends	
💼 Reports	C On a remote computer
Print reports	Computer name:
Network connection arou	
Clients	
E Client1	
🛗 Allen_Bradley1 🖳 TSP2_AE10B	
🛗 Allen_Bradley2 🖳 TSP2_A001	
🛗 Allen_Bradley3 🖳 TSP2_A002	
KOITO 📃 TSP2_A003	
🛄 Tecomat1 📃 TSP2_A004A	
ID=6 Project Koito\MainControlArea\Computers\S	Cancel Save changes

Driver

Connect to driver

Locally

If this option is active, the communication driver starts on the same computer as the runtime module.

On a remote computer If this option is active, the communication driver starts on another computer using the DCOM service. The driver must be registered on both computers. It is also necessary to configure the security settings for the driver in Windows.

Events



Run script on event

Connection start	These parameters determine whether to run the specified script when a connec- tion to the station is established for the first time.
Connection error	These parameters determine whether to run the specified script when an error occurs in a connection to the station.
Connection restoration	These parameters determine whether to run the specified script when a connec- tion to the station is restored.

☺ HINT In these scripts, it is possible to take special actions (e.g. set and reset the value of an internal variable in order to trigger an alarm).

Do not log connection event messages

This option determines whether to log information about connection related events to the database of system messages.

Do not show connection event messages

This option determines whether to show information about connection related events in the list of current messages.

🔀 Project structure manager _ 🗆 🗡 🗌 🗠 🖻 👗 💼 🛅 🗙 Basic Connection MEM file 🗀 🗅 🌽 😫 🖽 🐉 🖻 🔍 ✓ Save data to a MEM file 🖃 🧰 Project Koito ٠ File name: 🗄 🥯 MainControlArea 🔄 🗙 C:\r3_enu\Projects\Koito\MemFiles\Tecomat1.mem 🚊 🕘 Computers 🖻 🧰 Servers Saving interval (s): 5 ÷ 🚊 🖳 Main Server 🚊 💼 Stations ο ÷ Offset in the file: 🛗 Allen_Bradley1 📶 Allen_Bradley2 III Allen_Bradley3 Reliance J applet MEM file 🗙 КОІТО * III Tecomat1 TSP2_AE10B ISP2 A001 ISP2 A002 🖳 TSP2_A003 ISP2_A004A • ΠK Cancel ID=6 Project Koito\MainControlArea\Computers\S

Save data to a MEM file If this option is active, the runtime module periodically saves current data of the station to a MEM file. The MEM file contains a binary image of the station's memory. Thus, a runtime module running on another computer can obtain current data of the station by periodically reading the MEM file.

MEM file

File name	This parameter specifies the path and name of the MEM file.
Saving interval (s)	This parameter specifies the time period used for saving the MEM file.
Offset in the file	This parameter specifies the position in the MEM file at which to write the station's me- mory image. Thus, it is possible to use a single file to save data from more than one station.
	1

• WARNING Stations' memory images must not overlap.

Reliance J applet MEM file

Offset in the fileThis parameter specifies the position in the
Reliance J applet MEM file at which to write
the station's memory image.

• WARNING Stations' memory images must not overlap.

Connection parameters for Tecomat and Tecoreg stations

Basic

🖾 Project structure manager		<u>- 🗆 ×</u>
🗅 🗅 🚅 😫 🗠 🖻 🐰 💼 🙀 🗙	Basic Connection MEM file	
Image: Servers Image:	Basic Connection MEM file Connection C MEM file Basic Driver Events Image: Disease	
Printers Recipes Printers Printers Recipes Printers Printe	COM Port: 1 Seminout (ms) 2000 Parity: even Speed: 19200 bd Channet: CH1 Set Set Communication RS232	하
Image: Allen_Bradley1 Image: TSP2_AE108 Image: Allen_Bradley2 Image: TSP2_A001 Image: Allen_Bradley3 Image: TSP2_A002 Image: Allen_Bradley3 Image: TSP2_A002 Image: Allen_Bradley3 Image: TSP2_A003 Image: TSP2_A003 Image: TSP2_A003 Image: TSP2_A004A Image: TSP2_A004A		
ID=6 Project Koito\MainControlArea\Computers\S	OK Cancel Save char	iges

COM Port	This parameter specifies the number of COM port that is used for communication to the station via a serial cable.
Parity	This parameter specifies the parity used for com- munication to the station.
WARNING	By default, <i>Teco</i> stations use even parity. For a dial-up connection, it is necessary to configure the station to the same parity as that of the modem.
Channel	This parameter specifies the station's communi- cation channel to be used for communication between the computer and the station.
Communication tin	neout (ms)
	This parameter specifies the maximum time pe- riod between sending a request to and receiving

a response from the station by the communication driver. If the station does not respond to the request within the time specified, the communication is recognized as faulty (*Err-timeout*) and the request is sent to the station again. If the station does not respond repeatedly, it is recognized as a failure in communication to the station.

- **RECOMMENDATION** Failures in communication to the station slow down the communication to all the stations connected on the same serial cable. If the station is known to be out of service, it is recommended that you temporarily deactivate the *Online* parameter.
- *Communication speed* This parameter specifies the communication speed in bauds.
- WARNING The maximum possible communication speed depends on the data transmission line and connection quality – the better the connection, the higher the communication speed may be.
- Serial comm. type This parameter specifies the type of serial communication (RS232 or RS485/422 interface).

Dial-up connection



Dial-up connection

This parameter determines whether a connection to the station must be established through a modem.

Phone number	This parameter specifies the number of a te- lephone line used by the station's modem. Several stations can share the same modem.
Hang up after data transf	er finished
	This parameter determines whether to auto- matically terminate the dial-up connection after the completion of data transfer.
Control	This parameter specifies the link to a binary- type variable to be used to control the dial- up connection.
Status	This parameter specifies the link to an integer-type variable that should receive the dial-up connection status.

Time synchronization



Regular time synchronization

These parameters determine whether and when to synchronize the system time of the station with the system time of the computer. The synchronization is performed every day at the specified time.

Variable controlled synchronization

These parameters determine whether and when to synchronize the system time of the station with the system time of the computer. The synchronization is performed on the leading edge of a binarytype variable (the off-to-on transition). The *Reset* *variable* parameter determines whether to reset the control variable (i.e. set the variable to the off state) after detecting the leading edge.

Connection parameters for Allen Bradley stations

Basic

🔀 Project structure manager	
) 🗅 🗅 🚅 😫 🗍 🗠 🛍 👗 💼 🙀 🗙	Basic Connection MEM file
) 🖽 ĝi 🛍 🔊	Connection
Project Koito MainControlArea Omputers	O Direct O MEM file Basic Driver Events
⊡	
Image: Stations Image: Stations Image: Stations Image: Stations	Adapter: 0
ID=2 Project Koito\MainControlArea\Computers\S	OK Cancel Save changes

Adapter

This parameter specifies the adapter number.

Connection parameters for Modbus stations

Basic

🔀 Project structure manager		
🗅 🗅 🚅 😫 🗠 🖻 👗 💼 🙀 🗙	Basic Connection MEM file	
Den	Connection C Direct C MEM file	
Servers MainServer MainServ	Basic Driver Dolline COM Port: Parity: even Communication Communication Speed: Communication Protocol: RTU	
Name Type		
STSP2_SM40 Virtual		
TSP2_SM44 Virtual		
SP2_SM47 Virtual		
SP2_SM52 Virtual		
III Modbus1 Modbus		
ID=90 Project Koito\MainControlArea\Computers\S	S OK Cancel Save chan	jes

COM Port

This parameter specifies the number of COM port that is used for communication to the station via a serial cable.

Parity This parameter specifies the parity used for communication to the station.

Communication timeout (ms)

This parameter specifies the maximum time period between sending a request to and receiving a response from the station by the communication driver. If the station does not respond to the request within the time specified, the communication is recognized as faulty (*Err-timeout*) and the request is sent to the station again. If the station does not respond repeatedly, it is recognized as a failure in communication to the station.

RECOMMENDATION	Failures in communication to the station slow down
	the communication to all the stations connected on
	the same serial cable. If the station is known to be
	out of service, it is recommended that you tempora-
	rily deactivate the <i>Online</i> parameter.

- *Communication speed* This parameter specifies the communication speed in bauds.
- WARNING The maximum possible communication speed depends on the data transmission line and connection quality – the better the connection, the higher the communication speed may be.

Communication protocol This parameter specifies the protocol to be used for communication to the station.

2.6.2.5 Connecting databases

To make a database (previously defined via the **Database manager**) accessible to the runtime module running on the actual computer, you have to add a link to the database object to the logical computer's **Databases** folder. This is called connecting a database to a computer.

🔀 Project structure manager	
🗀 🗅 🛃 😫 🖉 🗠 🖻 👗 💼 🙀 🗙	
	Computer saves data to the database
🖃 💼 Project Koito 🗾	
🖻 🥯 MainControlArea	Primary directory:
	C:\r3_enu\Projects\Koito\Data\Main\
Servers	Standhu diraataur
	C:\r3_enu\Projects\Koito\Data\Bak\
🖯 Koito_A010	
B Koito_A011	
Koito A015	
Koito_A016	
🖯 Koito_A017	
Koito_A018	
B Keite A010 B Keite A016	
B Koito A011 B Koito A017	
B Kolto A012 B Kolto A018	
B Koito A013 B Koito A019	
B Koito A015 B Koito A021	
	OK Cancel Save changes
ID=9 Project Koito\MainControlArea\Computers\S	

Computer saves data to the database

This option determines whether the runtime module running on the computer logs data to the database.

- WARNING This option should only be active for one of the computers accessing the database. Usually, it is the one communicating to the station directly (i.e. via a communication driver). The other computers should only view the database via a computer network.
- *Primary directory* This parameter specifies the primary directory for storing the database.
- Standby directory This parameter specifies the standby directory for storing the database. It will only be used when the primary directory is not available.

2.6.2.6 Connecting printers for printing status messages

M Project structure manager	
	Name: \\HPSERVER\HP LaserJet 4V Status messages online print \[Mathbf{Q} Alarms] Commands \[System messages] Comment: Status message online printer.
ID=1 Project Koito\MainControlArea\Computers\S	OK Cancel Save changes

Name

This parameter specifies the name of the printer in the operating system.

Status message online print

These options determine which types of status messages should be printed online (i.e. printed immediately when they occur). This feature is also affected by analogous global options (see the chapter 2.4.2 PROJECT OPTIONS). To make this feature operational, it is necessary that the printer supports printing a single line without ejecting the paper.

- WARNING Laser printers and regular ink printers cannot be used for this purpose!
- *Comment* This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the printer.

2.6.2.7 Defining a network connection group

Network connections are the most common way to transfer data of a technological station between runtime modules running on different computers. A network connection always involves two computers: a client computer and server computer. The server computer is the one that has the data available (either through a communication driver or other network connection or a MEM file). The client computer is the one that needs to get the data from the server computer. The data is transferred through a so-called socket using the TCP/IP protocol. The socket is a communication channel identified by a unique number called a port.

To define a network connection between two computers, use the **Project** structure manager. First, select the Network connection groups folder of the client computer and invoke the New object command from the toolbar. This will add a new network connection group to the folder and automatically select it. Now you can add one or more network connections to the group by invoking the Connect objects command and choosing the server computer(s) from the list in the Select computer dialog. If you add more than one network connection to the group, you define a redundant configuration. This means that you define one primary and one or more standby (secondary) connections. The primary connection is the one with the highest priority. In the event of a communication failure on the current connection, the runtime module on the client computer automatically attempts to re-establish communication on a connection with lower priority. As soon as a connection with higher priority is again available, communication on the lower-priority connection is terminated. Therefore within each group, there is never more than a single connection being used for communication.

M Project structure manager	
	Name MainControlArea Connection priority MainServer BackupServer Image: Server Imag
ID=1 Project Koito\MainControlArea\Computers\C	OK Cancel Save changes

Name

This parameter specifies the network connection group's name that must be unique within the client computer and cannot contain illegal characters.

Connection priority This parameter specifies the list of connections in the sequence of priority. To increase/decrease the priority of the selected connection, move it up/down in the list.

Higher priority connections test interval (s)

This parameter specifies the time interval at which the runtime module on the client computer checks for the availability of a higher-priority connection.

2.6.2.8 Defining a network connection

Basic

🖾 Project structure manager	
🗅 🗅 😅 😫 🗠 🗈 👗 💼 🙀 🗙	Basic Advanced
] ☷ 21 € 🎕	Name
E-Clients	MainServer
Client1 Tends Tends Stations Tends Tends Tends Reports Repres Print reports Recipes Printers	Source computer Image: Source computer </th
⊡ ⊡ Network connection grou	Server 📈 🔭
Network connection grou MainControlArea MainControlArea MainControlArea MainControlArea MainServer Olient2 Users Vers Stations	Run script on event ✓ Connection start ✓ Net_Connect_Main ✓ Connection termination ✓ Connection termination ✓ Net_Disconnect_Main ✓ Transfer status messages Limit downloaded archive database count Max. archive database count:
ID=2 Project Koito\MainControlArea\Computers\C	OK Cancel Save changes

Name

This parameter specifies the connection's name that must be unique within the group and cannot contain illegal characters.

Source computer	This parameter specifies the server computer used
	as a data source for the client computer.

Connection control These parameters specify whether to control communication on the connection by the specified binary-type variables on client and server runtime modules.

Run script on event

Connection start

These parameters determine whether to execute the specified script when communication on the connection is established. Connection termination These parameters determine whether to execute the specified script when communication on the connection is terminated.

Transfer status messages This option determines whether to transfer status messages (alarms, commands and system messages) of the stations provided through this network connection. If this parameter is active, status messages of these stations are not generated on the client computer, but status messages generated on the server computer are accepted. Thus, both the client and server computers have the same status messages in the database (each computer has its own local database of status messages). The only difference is the receipt time of the messages.

Extended

Communication on a network connection between runtime modules is started at the client side. Unless communication at the client side is controlled by a variable, the client runtime module attempts to establish communication immediately after starting the visualizing project in runtime mode; otherwise only in case the connection control variable is equal to one.

The following situations may occur while establishing communication on a network connection:

- 1) The server computer has not been found within the network.
- 2) The server computer has been found within the network. However, the runtime module is not running on it.
- 3) The server computer has been found within the network, the runtime module is running on it, however communication at the server side is currently disabled (this may occur when communication at the server side is controlled by a variable).
- 4) The server computer has been found within the network, the runtime module is running on it, and communication at the server side is enabled. In this case, communication is established successfully.

The first situation is usually caused by an incorrectly specified *IP address* (or system name, if a constant *IP* address cannot be specified) of the server computer in the visualizing project, or the fact, that the computer is not

running. Immediately after the attempt to establish communication, the client runtime module will qualify this situation as an unsuccessful attempt to find the server computer within the network.

Next attempt to establish the connection will be made after expiration of the time period defined by the parameter *Idle delay after failure to find the source computer on the network (s)*. If this situation repeats more then x-times (the figure x is defined by the *Number of failed attempts to find the source computer on the network before using a standby connection* parameter), a standby connection is activated (according to priorities), which is defined in the same network connection group.

The second and third situation will be qualified as an unsuccessful attempt to establish communication by the client runtime module after expiration of the time period defined by the *Connection timeout* (s) parameter, and the attempt will be repeated. If this situation repeats more than x-times (the figure x is defined by the *Connection timeout count before using a standby connection* parameter), a standby connection is activated (according to priorities), which is defined in the same network connection group.



2.6.2.9 Defining a station provided through a network connection *Basic*



Connection enabled	This option determines whether to make the sta- tion accessible to the computer. If the option is not active, the runtime module acts as if the station was not connected to the computer (i.e. as if the link to the station were not contained in the <i>Sta- tions</i> folder) and ignores this station and its sub- ordinated objects when loading the visualizing project. It can be useful when debugging the app- lication to speed up starting the project in runtime mode if concentrating only on certain stations.
Enable commanding	This option determines whether the client runtime module can send commands to the station through the network connection.

Data update interval (ms) This parameter specifies the time interval used for updating the station's current data. It is intended for stations that do not support communication zones. Comm. zone update frequency reducing factor

This parameter affects the time interval used for updating the station's current data by reading the station's communication zones via the network connection. It is intended for stations that support communication zones (*Tecomat, Tecoreg, Allen Bradley* and *Modbus*). If the value is equal to one, the update interval is the same as defined for the communication zone via the *Station manager*. If the value is equal to x, where x is greater than one, the update interval is x-times greater than defined for the communication zone. Thus, the update frequency can be reduced.

MEM file

See the *MEM file* section in the chapter 2.6.2.4 CONNECTING STATIONS.

2.6.2.10 Examples

This chapter contains a few examples to demonstrate various structures of visualizing projects; the dashed line indicates individual control areas.

Example 1

This example demonstrates the project structure typical for minor applications of 1 computer - n stations type. The visualizing project contains a single control area. The control area consists of a single computer and several *Tecomat* stations.



Example 2

This example demonstrates an application that uses network communication between runtime modules. The visualizing project contains a single control area. The control area consists of three computers running runtime modules that exchange technological data through a LAN network using the TCP/IP protocol.



Example 3

This example demonstrates an application that uses network communication between runtime modules and distribution of technological data to *Reliance J* Web clients. The visualizing project contains a single control area. The control area consists of two computers – a computer running the *Reliance runtime server* module and a computer running the *Reliance runtime VIEW* module. The computer running *Reliance runtime server* is connected to the network of *Tecomat* stations through a switched telephone line and to the network of *Modbus* stations through a serial cable. *Reliance runtime server* also enables the *Reliance J* Web clients to connect to it from a local intranet network or over the Internet. *Reliance runtime VIEW* obtains technological data from *Reliance runtime server* through a LAN network.



Example 4

This example demonstrates a major application divided into three control areas.

The control area no. 1 consists of two computers. The computer running the *Reliance server* module is connected to the network of *Tecomat* stations through a switched telephone line. The *Reliance runtime CONTROL* module running on the other computer obtains data of the stations from *Reliance server* through a LAN network and allows monitoring and controlling the stations.

The control area no. 2 consists of two computers. The computer running the *Reliance runtime server* module is connected to the stations through a serial cable. The *Reliance runtime VIEW* module running on the other computer obtains data of the stations from *Reliance runtime server* through a LAN network and allows monitoring the stations.

The control area no. 3 is a central control area collecting technological data from subordinated locations. It consists of three computers. The computer running the *Reliance server* module is connected to the other control areas through a WAN network. *Reliance server* obtains technological data from the runtime modules running on computers within the other control areas. The *Reliance runtime* modules running on the other computers within this control area obtain data of the stations from *Reliance server* through a LAN network and allow monitoring (both *VIEW* and *CONTROL* modules) and controlling (only the *CONTROL* module) the stations from the other control areas (1 and 2). When a command is sent to a technological station from *Reliance runtime CONTROL*, it is passed to *Reliance server* within this control area through the LAN network and then it is passed to a runtime module within the appropriate control area.

Reliance server and *Reliance runtime server* also enable the *Reliance J* Web clients to connect to them from a local intranet network or over the Internet.



2.6.3 Station manager

The station is an object representing a physical device (e.g. PLC, programmable regulator, telemetric station or other I/O device) or a so-called virtual station. Within each station, you can define variables and status messages linked to the variables. The values of the variables are used to generate status messages (e.g. alarms), can be displayed via visual components, can be used to control the appearance and behavior of components, can be archived to databases, processed by scripts, etc. If the station represents a physical device, the runtime module obtains the values of the variables from the station's communication driver or another runtime module (e.g. through a network connection). Otherwise, the station's variables only exist in the memory of the computer on which the visualizing project is running and are referred to as internal variables.

Every visualizing project contains a predefined virtual station named *System*. This station is automatically accessible to each computer defined within the visualizing project (i.e. you do not need to connect this station to the logical computer via the *Project structure manager*). It is intended for defining private internal variables. It cannot be shared among the computers in any way (i.e. cannot be provided through a network connection, etc.).

2.6.3.1 Defining a station

Name	This parameter specifies the station's name that must be unique within the project and cannot
	contain illegal characters.
Comment	This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the station.

Other station parameters (e.g. the address) may vary according to station type. For information on parameters of the most common station types, see the following sections. Defining a Tecomat and Tecoreg station



Station parameters

Parameters

Station address	This parameter specifies the station's address set on the communication channel used.
Station type	This parameter can be used to specify the sta- tion's type. In most cases, it is not required.
Register length	These parameters specify the sizes (in bytes) of the station's registers to cover the address space used for the variables defined within the station. These values do not need to cor- respond to the sizes of registers of the physi- cal station.

Databox

🔀 Station manager	
🗅 🛄 🍝 🤞 📙 🗠 🛍 🗎 🗮 📉 🗙	Station parameters Databox
j 🖽 ĝ↓ 🖻 🖎	▼ Enable reading Databox
⊕	Databox size 200 000 💌 bytes
⊕-IIII Allen_Bradley2 ⊕-IIII Allen_Bradley3	🔧 Start index 🗙 System.Tc1_DBox_StartIndex
⊡-IIII Tecomat1 ⊕-ISI Variables	System.Tc1_DBox_Length
	🔧 Start bit 🗙 System.Tc1_DBox_StartReading
	System.Tc1_DBox_Buffer
	Status 🗙 System.Tc1_DBox_Status
Status messages	
ID=47 Stations\Tecomat1	OK Cancel Save changes

Enable reading Databox	This parameter determines whether to enable the communication driver to read data from the Databox (supplementary memory of <i>Tecomat</i> stations).
Databox size	This parameter specifies the size of the Data- box in bytes.
Start index	This parameter specifies the integer-type varia- ble to be used to control the initial address of the data block to be read from the station.
Length	This parameter specifies the integer-type varia- ble to be used to control the length of the data block to be read from the station.
Start bit	This parameter specifies the binary-type varia- ble to be used to control the reading. The rea-

ding starts on the leading edge of the variable (the off-to-on transition).

- BufferThis parameter specifies the array-type varia-
ble to be used to store the data block read
from the Databox.
- Status This parameter specifies the integer-type variable to be used to store the current status of the reading operation. It may contain the following values:
 - 0...ready
 - 1...the reading operation in progress
 - 2...the reading operation completed successfully
 - 3...the reading operation failed

Defining an Allen Bradley station

🔀 Station manager	
] 🗅 🎟 🦇 🦂 🗓 🗍 🗠 🛍 👗 💼 🎦 🗙 👘	Name
🕮 ĝ↓ 🖻 🔕	AB1
Stations System Image: System <th>Comment SLC 5/03 Parameters Station address 1</th>	Comment SLC 5/03 Parameters Station address 1
Variables	
Status messages	
ID=1 Stations\AB1	OK Cancel Save changes

Parameters

Station address

This parameter specifies the station's address set on the communication channel used.

Defining a Modbus station



Parameters

Station address

This parameter specifies the station's address set on the communication channel used.

Defining an OPC station

OPC (OLE for Process Control) is a worldwide standard of technological data exchange between software programs. Defining an *OPC station* allows *Reliance* to connect to any *OPC server* that meets the specification OPC DA 1.0 or 2.0. It means that if the manufacturer of a HW device (or a third party company) develops an *OPC server* for the device, then *Reliance* can use the *OPC server* to obtain technological data from the device and send commands to the device.

Each *OPC server* has two unique identifiers within the Windows operating system – so-called *ProgID* and *GUID*. *ProgID* contains an identification string of the application (e.g. *Matrikon.OPC.Simulation.1*). *GUID* contains a unique identification number generated by each *OPC server* manufacturer and this number should be unique throughout the world (no other program should use this number as *GUID*).



Parameters

OPC server Prog ID

This parameter specifies a unique identifier of the *OPC server*. This parameter is supplied automatically after selecting the *OPC server*. To select an *OPC server*, click the ellipsis (...) button.
ę	elect OPC server			×
	Server	OPC 1.0	OPC 2.0	
	ICONICS.AlarmServer_	?	?	
	ICONICS.DataWorX32	?	?	
	ICONICS.Simulator	?	?	
I	Intellution.OPCEDA	?	?	
I	Matrikon.0PC.Simulation	Yes	Yes	
I	Merz.OPC_Gen_Modbus_Jbus.1	Yes	Yes	
	TECO.DA2.1		Yes	
				OK
				Cancel

OPC server GUID

This parameter specifies a unique identifier of the *OPC server*. This parameter is supplied automatically after selecting the *OPC server*. To select an *OPC server*, click the ellipsis (...) button.

2.6.3.2 Importing and exporting variables

Reliance allows users to import variables from external files (exported for example from development tools used for PLC programming).

Тесо

Variables of *Tecomat* and *Tecoreg* stations may be imported from a file in the *.*pub* (xPro) or *.*tdr* format (Mercur, Epos for Windows). A structure-type variable (which can be defined via Mercur or Epos) is imported as a group of variables corresponding to the structure items. Names of the variables are generated according to the syntax *StructureName_ItemName*. An array-type variable (which can be defined via Mercur, Epos) is imported as a group of variables corresponding to the elements of the array. Names of the variables are generated according to the syntax *FieldName_ElementIndex*.

Allen Bradley

Variables of *Allen Bradley* stations may be imported from a file in the *.csv format (RS Logix) or exported in this format.

OPC

To import variables into the current *OPC group* directly from the *OPC* server, click the *Import variables from OPC server* button. However, the server must support the *IOPCBrowseServerAddressSpace* interface. Variables

may be imported to the current *OPC group* also from a file in the *.*csv* format or exported in this format. The file must be in text format; each line must have the following structure:

OpcItemID; Variable name; Variable type; Comment

2.6.3.3 Defining a variable

Parameters

Name	This parameter specifies the variable's name that
	must be unique within the station and cannot contain illegal characters.
Comment	This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the variable.

Other parameters of variables (e.g. variable type) differ according to station type.

🔀 Station manager	
🗀 🎹 🚸 😽 🛃 🗠 🛍 👗 💼 🙀 🗙	Parameters Properties Limits Sharing
Image: State	Character count 0 Element count 0
Water_temperature Water_temperature Grommunication zones F_0_200 R_200_200 R_600_200 R_600_200 R_600_200	Save current value III Initial value 50
Gas_Pressure	Value correction y = kx + q ko 1 x 0 x
	Message text
ID=1227 Stations\Tecomat1\Variables\Water_Temperal	OK Cancel Save changes

Character count	This parameter specifies the minimum number of
	characters displayed. If the number of characters
	of the value displayed is less than this parameter,
	the value will be filled in by space characters –
	for numeric-type variables from the left, for string-
	type variables from the right.

Dec. place countThis parameter specifies the number of decimal
places displayed. For a floating point-type variable,
this is the number of decimal places the value will
be rounded up to; in case of an integer-type varia-
ble, the value will be calculated using the formula
 $y = x/10^n$, where n is the value of this parameter.
The runtime module uses the corrected value and
the original value is not available anymore.

Element count This parameter specifies the number of elements of array-type variables.

Save current value This option determines whether to save the current value of the variable before terminating the visualizing project in runtime mode; when the project is started next time, the saved value is used to initialize the variable.

Initial value This option determines whether to initialize the variable with the specified value when starting the visualizing project in runtime mode. This value may later be replaced with the value saved as current (see the *Save current value* parameter).

Value correctionThis option determines whether to use a correction according to the formula y = kx + q when computing the value of the variable. If this option is active, the runtime module uses the corrected value and the original value is not available anymore.

Log commands to a command database

This option determines whether to record information about all "write" operations performed on the variable to the database of commands. The *Message text* parameter is optional. If it is not specified, a default text will be used.

Limits

These parameters let you define upper and lower limits (critical and warning) for the variable. Limits may be either static or dynamic. The value of a static limit is defined as a constant parameter. The value of a dynamic limit is controlled by the specified numeric-type variable. A limit can be used to generate an alarm message when exceeding the limit.

🔏 Station manager	
🗀 🎟 🚸 😽 🛃 🗠 🛍 👗 💼 🙀 🗙	Parameters Properties Limits Sharing
☷ ≵∔ 🖻 🔊	Upper critical limit
Tecomat1	🗖 Dynamic
	90
Water_Temperature	
Communication zones	
⊷ R_200_200	🗖 Dynamic
► R_400_200	80
▲ R_800_200	
	☑ Lower warning limit
▲ Gas_Pressure	🗖 Dynamic
Water_Temperature	10
	□ Lower critical limit
	🗖 Dynamic
	20
ID=1227 Stations\Tecomat1\Wariables\Water_Temperal	OK Cancel Save changes

Sharing

The runtime module of *Reliance* acts as a *DDE server*.

💅 Station manager	
🗅 🎟 🚸 😽 🛃 🗠 🖻 👗 💼 📴 🗙	Parameters Properties Limits Sharing
] ☳ 2↓ € - 3	
Gas_Pressure → Water_Temperature Gas_Pressure → R_0_200 → R_200_200 → R_400_200 → R_800_200 → R_800_2	DDE Item Water_Temperature
ID=1227 Stations\Tecomat1\Variables\Water Temperal	OK Cancel Save changes

DDE

This option determines whether the runtime module provides other programs (the so-called *DDE clients*, e.g. MS Excel, MS Word) with the current value of the variable using the DDE (Dynamic Data Exchange) standard.

When defining a link to the variable in a *DDE client* program, use the following syntax:

{=runtime_module | DdeServer!DdeItem}

8- EXAMPLE

{=Reli_rt | DdeServer! Water_Temperature}

Defining a variable of a Tecomat and Tecoreg station

🔀 Station manager	
🗀 🎹 🚸 😽 🛃 🗠 🖻 👗 💼 📴 🗙	Parameters Properties Limits Sharing
📖 ⋛↓ 🖻 🔊	Name
Gas_Pressure Gas_Pressure Gas_Pressure Gas_Pressure Communication zones R_0_200 R_200_200 R_400_200 R_600_200 R_800_200 Gas_Pressure Gas_Pressure Mater_Temperature	Name Water_Temperature Comment Parameters Technological name WT Register type Address R 0 Variable type word
I ID=1227 Stations\Tecomat1\Wariables\Water_Temperal	OK Cancel Save changes

Technological name	This parameter specifies an optional name related to the technology for the variable.
Units	This parameter specifies units of measure- ment for the variable.
Register type	This parameter specifies the type of register where the variable is stored in the station.
Address	This parameter specifies the register address where the variable is stored in the station.
Variable type	This parameter specifies the data type (for- mat) for the variable.

Defining a variable of an Allen Bradley station

🔀 Station	manager			
] 🗀 🛄 -	💩 😽 🛃 🛛 🗠	🖻 🐰 💼	🖻 🗙	Parameters Properties Limits Sharing
] 🚉 ĝi (è 🔊			Name
🖃 🧰 Stat	ions			Int N7:2
÷	System			C
	AB1			Lomment
	Variables Communication :	ones		
	N 7 10 50	corres		
	• 0_2_2_100)		
	→ B_11_7_100	0		1
	♣ I_1_3_1000	_		Parameters
		0		Technological name Units
±	Status message:	3		
Name	Туре	Address		Address
💧 Int N7:0	integer	N7:0		N7:2
💧 Int N7:1	integer	N7:1		
🔥 Int N7:2	integer	N7:2		
💧 Int N7:3	integer	N7:3		
💧 Int N7:4	integer	N7:4		
💧 Int N7:5	integer	N7:5		
4 0:2/0	bool	0:2/0		
4 0:2/1	bool	0:2/1		
4 0:2/2	bool	0:2/2		
4 0:2/3	bool	0:2/3		
4 0:2/4	bool	0:2/4		
0:2/5	bool	0:2/5	-	OK Cancel Save changes
ID=3	Stations\AB1\Varia	oles\Int N7:2		

Technological name	This parameter specifies an optional name related to the technology for the variable.
Units	This parameter specifies units of measure- ment for the variable.
Address	This parameter specifies the register address where the variable is stored in the station. The address consists of a register block type and an element address within this block. Variables stored in B, I, O, N, F and ST blocks are supported.

Defining a variable of a Modbus station

🔀 Station manager	
🗀 🎟 🦇 😼 🗠 🛍 👗 💼 🙀 🗙	Parameters Properties Limits Sharing
] 🖽 ĉi 🖻 🔊	Name
E-C Stations	Out2
E	Comment
📕 🗛 In1	
In4	Parameters
	Technological name Units
Out1	
	Register type Address
	Outputs (Coils)
	Variable type
	bool
D=4 Stations\Modbus1\\/ariables\Qut\Qut2	OK Cancel Save changes
porations infounds i manapies (out toutz	

Technological name	This parameter specifies an optional name related to the technology for the variable.
Units	This parameter specifies units of measurement for the variable.
Register type	This parameter specifies the type of register where the variable is stored in the station. A <i>Modbus</i> station has 4 types of registers – Outputs (<i>Coils</i>), Inputs (<i>Inputs</i>), User registers (<i>Holding registers</i>) and System registers (<i>In- put registers</i>).
Address	This parameter specifies the register address where the variable is stored in the PLC.

Variable type	This parameter specifies the data type (format)
	for the variable. The <i>Bool</i> format is supported
	only for variables in input and output regis-
	ters, the Bool, Word and Integer formats are
	supported for variables in user and system
	registers.

Defining a variable of an OPC station

Variables in an *OPC station* cannot be added directly into the *Variables* folder. First, you have to add a special folder called *OPC group*. Then you can either define new variables within the group or import variables to the group from an *OPC server*.

🔀 Station manager	
] 🗅 🎟 🚸 🤞 🛃 🍵 🗠 🛍 🐰 💼 🔀	Name
💷 🛃 🖻 🔊	A010
🖃 🛅 Stations 📃	Comment
🕀 🖳 System	
	_
😐 🔂 A013	Parameters
🕀 🔁 AE28	
	Active gloup
	Update interval (ms) Dead band (%)
	50 🗧 🛛 🗧
A DT6 bStatus BELTB A010	Import variables
A DT6 Begister FBT A010	
	Import variables from OPC server
A DT6 Begister BW/T 4010	
ADT6 Coil SDMPB A010	Import variables from CSV
TTE Coil RDMPR A010	
TTE Coil HPU A010	
TT6_Coil_SFAN_A010	
TT6_Coil_RFAN_A010	
- -	
ID=1 Stations\KOITO\Variables\A010	UK Cancel Save changes

Name

This parameter specifies the group's name that must be unique within the station and cannot contain illegal characters.

Comment This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the group.

Parameters	
Active group	This option determines whether the group is active, i.e. whether the variables defined within the group should be periodically updated by the <i>OPC server</i> .
Update interval (ms)	This parameter specifies the required update interval of variables by the <i>OPC server</i> . Cer- tain <i>OPC servers</i> do not support arbitrary up- date intervals – it is necessary to study the documentation of the <i>OPC server</i> and use the closest interval supported.
Interface	This parameter specifies the interface for rea- ding data from the <i>OPC server</i> . Older servers support the standard OPC DA 1.0, newer servers have also OPC DA 2.0 interface avai- lable. If <i>Asynchronous I/O</i> is selected, the data is obtained by the standard asynchro- nous interface.
Dead band (%)	This parameter specifies the percentage of change in the value of a variable defined within the group in order for the <i>OPC server</i> to send the new value of the variable to the runtime module.

🔏 Station manager	
🗅 🎹 🐟 🔌 🛃 🗠 🖻 👗 💼 <u>ष</u> 🗙	Parameters Properties Limits Sharing
] ☷ 2↓ 🖻 🔍	Name
Stations	DT6_Register_CPA_A010
	Comment
DT6 wStatus HTV AD10	
TTC_Register_OP_COMM_A01	
DT6_Register_SFAN_STAT_AC	
DT6_negister_AHU_STAT_AU	Parameters Units
DT6_Register_DAT_CALC_SET	
DT6_wStatus_ERC_A010	
	Variable type
DT6_bStatus_RFLTR_A010	OPC ItemID
DT6_Register_ERT_A010	DT6.Register.CPA_A010
A DT6 Coil SFAN A010	
DT6_Coil_RFAN_A010	
ID=74 Stations\KOITO\Variables\A010\DT6_Registe	UK Lancel Save changes

Parameters

Technological name	This parameter specifies an optional name re- lated to the technology for the variable.
Units	This parameter specifies units of measurement for the variable.
Variable type	This parameter specifies the data type (for- mat) for the variable.
OPC ItemID	This parameter specifies the name used for the variable within the <i>OPC server</i> .

2.6.3.4 Defining a communication zone

Communication zones let you fully control the communication to the stations.

Name This parameter specifies the zone's name that must be unique within the station and cannot contain illegal characters.

Comment

This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the zone.

Defining a communication zone of a Tecomat and Tecoreg station

🔀 Station manag	jer			
) 🗀 🛄 🚸 🦂	B ×) 🗈 🖁	💼 🖬 🗙	Name
) 🕮 ĝļ 🖻 🔕				R_200_200
🕀 🛗 Allen_Bi	radley3			Comment
📄 🫄 Tecoma	at1			
🗄 🔂 Vari	ables	_		
	nmunication	zones		
	B 200 200	ı.		
	R_400_200)		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	R_600_200)		Parameters
	R_800_200)		Register type Address Length
	us message	s		R 🗾 200 🛨 200 🛨 bytes
Name	Address	Length	Interval	Reading interval
♣ R_0_200	RO	200	500	500 A ms
A R_200_200	R200	200	500	
• R_400_200	R400	200	500	Reading control
• R_600_200	R600	200	500	
• R_800_200	H800	200	000	20 🔨
				Reset variable after reading fihished
				OK Cancel Save changes
ID=3 Station:	s\Tecomat1	\Communi	cation zones\R_	

Register type	This parameter specifies the type of register where the zone is located.
Address	This parameter specifies the register address where the zone begins.
Length	This parameter specifies the length of the zone in bytes.
Reading interval	This parameter specifies the time interval used for reading the zone by the communi- cation driver.

Reading control

This parameter determines whether to control reading the zone by the specified binary-type variable.

Defining a communication zone of an Allen Bradley station



Register block type	This parameter specifies the type of register block where the zone is located.
File number	This parameter specifies the number of file (register block) where the zone is located.
Element count	This parameter specifies the length of the zone in elements.
Reading interval	This parameter specifies the time interval used for reading the zone by the communi- cation driver.

🔀 Station manager	
🗀 🛄 🚸 🤞 🗓 🖉 🗠 🛍 👗 💼 🙀 🗙	Name
🕮 ĝ↓ 🖻 🔊	UserReg2
In1 In2 Out Out	Comment Parameters Register type User registers (Holding registers) Address Length 100 Address Length 100 Reading interval 3000 ms Reading control Reading control Reading control Reading control Reading finished
ID=6 Stations\Modbus1\Communication zones\User	UK Cancel Save changes

Defining a communication zone of a Modbus station

Register type	This parameter specifies the type of register where the zone is located.
Address	This parameter specifies the register address where the zone begins.
Length	This parameter specifies the length of the zone in elements.
Reading interval	This parameter specifies the time interval used for reading the zone by the communica- tion driver.
Reading control	This parameter determines whether to control reading the zone by the specified binary-type variable.

2.6.3.5 Defining a status message

Basic



Name	This parameter specifies the message's name that must be unique within the station and cannot contain illegal characters.
Text	This parameter specifies the text of the message.
Variable	This parameter specifies the link to the variable related to the message. The variable must belong to the same station as the message.
Occurrence	This parameter specifies the occurrence that generates the message.
On value change	The message is generated when the value of the variable changes in the specified way (<i>Any change, Increment, Decrement</i>).

Leading edge	The message is generated when the value of the binary-type variable changes from 0 to 1 (the off-to-on transition). The message remains active until the variable changes its value back to 0.
Trailing edge	The message is generated when the value of the binary-type variable changes from 1 to 0 (the on-to-off transition). The message remains active until the variable changes its value back to 1.
Upper critical limit	The message is generated when the value of the variable becomes equal or greater than the upper critical limit of the variable.
Upper warning limit	The message is generated when the value of the variable becomes equal or greater than the upper warning limit of the variable.
Lower warning limit	The message is generated when the value of the variable becomes equal or less than the lower warning limit of the variable.
Lower critical limit	The message is generated when the value of the variable becomes equal or less than the lower critical limit of the variable.
Other properties	
Message type	A status messages can be of one of the following types: alarm, command and system message. The runtime module creates a sepa- rate database for each of the types.
Priority	This parameter affects the order in which the sounds triggered by the message's events (i.e. origin and end) should be played. The mes- sage with higher value of this parameter has higher priority when playing the sounds.

Advanced

🔀 Station manager	
🗀 🛄 🐟 🦂 🛃 🗠 🖻 👗 💼 🙀 🗙	Basic Advanced Events Other
Image: System of the system	Operation ✓ Archive ✓ Show in current message list ✓ Require acknowledgment ✓ Common alarm ack ✓ Verify user on acknowledgment Related objects ✓ Window ✓ Technology Binary variable ✓ ✓ ✓
ID=3 Stations\Tecomat1\Status messages\Water_T	

Operation

Archive	This option determines whether to save the message to the database of status messages
Show in current message	list
U	This option determines whether to display the message in the list of current messages.

Require acknowledgement This option determines whether acknowledgement by the operator is required for the message before it can be removed from the list of current messages.

Verify user on acknowledgement

This option determines whether to verify the operator when acknowledging the message. If this option is active, the message can only be acknowledged upon successful verification of the operator's identity. A HW fingerprint sensor connected to the computer can perform the verification.

Related objects

Window

This option determines whether the specified window is related to the message. If this option is active, the operator can bring up the window by choosing a special command.

Binary variableThis option determines whether the specified
binary-type variable is related to the message.
The variable is set to 1 and kept on this value
by the runtime module while the condition
that generated the message persists. If the con-
dition is not present, the variable is set to 0
and kept on this value by the runtime module.

Events

🔏 Station manager	
🗀 🎹 🚸 🦂 🛃 🗠 🖻 👗 💼 📴 🗙	Basic Advanced Events Other
Image: Second state of the second state state of the second state messages Image: Second state of the second state of the second state message second state mess	Basic Advanced Events Other On message origin Image: Second secon
ID=3 Stations\Tecomat1\Status messages\Water T	OK Cancel Save changes

On message origin	
Run script	This option determines whether to run the specified script when the message is generated.
Play sound	This option determines whether to play the specified sound file (in the *.wav format) when the message is generated. If this option is active and the sound file is not specified, the runtime module uses the default sound (see the chapter 2.4.2.1 STATUS MESSAGE MANAGEMENT).
Activate current message	list
	This parameter determines whether to activate the list of current messages when the message is generated.
Online print	This parameter determines whether to print the message on the printer (intended for online printing, see the chapter 2.6.2.6 CONNECTING PRINTERS FOR PRINTING STATUS MESSAGES) when the message is generated. This feature is subject to global options for online print (see the chapter 2.4.2.1 STATUS MESSAGE MANAGEMENT).
On message end	
Run script	This option determines whether to run the specified script when the condition that generated the message ceases to exist.
Play sound	This option determines whether to play the specified sound file (in the *.wav format) when the condition that generated the message ceases to exist. If this option is active and the sound file is not specified, the runtime module uses the default sound (see the chapter 2.4.2.1 STATUS MESSAGE MANAGEMENT).
On message acknowledgement	
Run script	This option determines whether to run the

specified script when the message is acknowledged by the operator.

Other

🗹 Station manager	
🗀 🛄 🚸 🤞 🛃 🗠 🖻 🐰 💼 🙀 🗙	Basic Advanced Events Other
] 🎫 ĝļ 🖻 🔕	Comment
🗄 🖳 TSP2_SM06 📃 🔺	
Ē 🖳 TSP2_SM40	
Ē	
teres TSP2_A006F	
	Explanation
	Water temperature has exceeded the upper warning limit. Switch on the
	cooling system.
TSP2_SM30	
Allen_Bradley1	
Allen_Bradley2	
Allen_Bradley3	
🖃 🛄 Tecomati	
Electron zones	
+ Status messages	
Name	
🔂 Gas_Pressure_Over_Hi	
👼 Gas_Pressure_Over_HiHi	
🔋 🛃 Water_Temperature_Over_Hi	
😼 Water_Temperature_Over_HiHi	
ID=3 Stations\Tecomat1\Status messages\Water_T	UK Cancel Save changes

Comment

This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the message.

Explanation This parameter can be used to specify an optional explanation of the message. The operator can display the explanation by choosing a special command.

2.6.4 Database manager

The **Database manager** allows you to define and configure databases. The database is an object representing a physical database stored on a hard disk. By defining a database you enable the runtime module to access (read and/or write) the values of selected variables in time sequence.

Database parameters

🖸 Database manager 📃 🔍			
] 🗀 🖯 🐟 🔊 🛛 🗠 🖺 👗 💼	l 🖻 🗙 👘	Name	File prefix
) 🖽 Şļ 🗈 🔊 🛐		Koito_A010	A010
Databases Databases DT6_Register_CPA_A010 DT6_Register_CPA_A010 DT6_Register_DAT_A010 DT6_Register_DAT_A010 DT6_Register_DAT_A010 DT6_Register_DP_COMM_A010 DT6_Register_RAT_A010		Comment	
 DT6_Register_RFAN_STAT DT6_Register_RMT_A010 DT6_Register_RWT_A010 DT6_Register_SFAN_STAT DT6_Register_STP0INT_A0 DT6_Register_STP0INT_A0 	_A010 _A010)10	Saving interval G defined interval interval length (s):	C variable controlled
DT6_wStatus_HTV_A010 S DT6_wStatus_HTV_A010 S DT7_Register_PMP_STAT_ O Koito_A011 O Koito_A012 O Koito_A013 O Koito_A014 O Koito_A015 O Koito_A015 O Koito_A017 O Koito_A018	A010	Database archive month day reset variable Delete oldest archive max. database count. 10	C variable controlled C no archives
Name Name DT6_Register_AHU_STAT_A010 DT6_Register_CPA_A010 DT6_Register_DAT_A010 DT6_Register_ERT_A010 DT6_Register_OP_COMM_A010 DT6_Register_RAT_A010 DT6_Register_RAT_A010 DT6_Register_RAT_A010 DT6_Register_RAT_A010 DT6_Register_RAT_A010 DT6_Register_RAT_A010 DT6_RATA	Variable KOITO.DT KOITO.DT KOITO.DT KOITO.DT KOITO.DT KOITO.DT	Stop variable	Database type C Paradox C DBase
ID=2 Databases\Koito_A010		ОК	Cancel Save changes

Name

This parameter specifies the database's name that must be unique within the project and cannot contain illegal characters.

File prefix This parameter specifies the prefix used for the database's files.

Comment This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the database.

Saving interval This parameter determines when to save a new record to the database. Saving can be done periodically (*defined interval*) at the specified time in-

terval (*interval length* (*s*)) or on the leading edge (the off-to-on transition) of the specified binarytype variable (*variable controlled*). The *Reset variable* option determines whether the control variable should be set to 0 after detecting the leading edge of the variable by the runtime module. If this option is active, it is important that each database use a different control variable.

Database archive This parameter determines whether and how to create archive files for the database. Archive files are created by copying the database's current files (the files to which the runtime module saves new records) to the database's archive directory and renaming them. If the operation is successful, the current files are deleted. Archiving can be performed periodically (month or day) or not at all (no archives).

Delete oldest archive databases

This parameter determines whether to delete the oldest archive databases so that the number of archive databases does not exceed the specified value. The oldest databases are deleted when creating a new archive database.

Stop variable This parameter determines whether to use the specified binary-type variable to control saving records to the database. If the value of the variable is equal to zero, saving is enabled. Otherwise, saving is disabled.

Special parameters

not indexed

This option determines whether to create and maintain the primary index file for the database. It only applies to Paradox-type databases. If this option is not active, the database is indexed by date and time of the records. The index ensures that the records are always sorted by date and time when accessing the database. By default, this option is not active.

saving enabled	This option determines whether saving new records to the database is enabled. By de- fault, this option is active.
Database type	This parameter determines the data format used for the database (<i>Paradox</i> , <i>DBase</i>).

Database field parameters



Name

This parameter specifies the field's name that must be unique within the database and cannot contain illegal characters.

Comment

This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the field.

Variable

This parameter specifies the link to the variable whose value is to be saved to the database.

2.6.5 Trend manager

The **Trend manager** allows you to define and configure trends. The trend is an object used for graphic presentation of the data stored in a database(s). Trends can be displayed in runtime mode via the trend viewer.

Trend parameters



Name

This parameter specifies the trend's name that must be unique within the project and cannot contain illegal characters.

Comment This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the trend.

Title	This parameter specifies the text to be displayed as the title of the trend using the specified font. If the <i>use trend name</i> option is active, the trend's name is used as the title.
Background	This parameter specifies the background color of the trend. The color should contrast with colors used for individual series.
Ruler	These parameters determine the color and width of the ruler. The ruler is a vertical straight line drawn on the background. It is designed for accu- rate reading of values of individual series at the crossing point of the ruler and the series. The color of the ruler should contrast with the back- ground color.
Vertical axis	These parameters enable you to configure the be- havior of the vertical axis common to all series. The <i>Hidden</i> option can be used to hide the axis in cases when each series uses its own vertical axis. The <i>Automatic</i> option determines whether the axis automatically adjusts its minimum and/or maximum to the series' values within the current time range. If the axis' minimum and/or maxi- mum are not automatic they must be specified as the <i>Minimum</i> and/or <i>Maximum</i> parameters.
Trend type	This parameter determines how to graphically represent the series' values.
Display style	These parameters determine the time range dis- played on a single page of the trend. If <i>Value</i> <i>count</i> is active, the trend viewer always attempts to display the specified number of values (time samples) on a single page. In this case, it is required that all the series must be linked to the same database so that each series displays values with the same time stamps. If <i>Time range</i> is active, the trend viewer always displays the spe- cified time range on a single page regardless of the amount of values (time samples).

Trend series parameters

🕅 Trend manager	
`` ((() () () () () () () () () () () () () () () () ()	Name DT6_Register_AHU_STAT_A010
Trends Koito_A010 DT6_Register_AHU_STAT_A010 DT6_Register_CPA_A010 DT6_Register_CPA_A010 DT6_Register_ERT_A010 DT6_Register_ERT_A010 DT6_Register_RAT_A010 DT6_Register_RFAN_STAT_A010 DT6_Register_RFAN_STAT_A010 DT6_Register_RWT_A010 DT6_Register_STPOINT_A010 DT6_Register_STPOINT_A010 DT6_Register_STPOINT_A010 DT6_Register_STPOINT_A010 DT6_Register_PMP_STAT_A010 DT7_Register_PMP_STAT_A010	Comment Database field Koito_A010.DT6_Register_AHU_STAT_A010 Series Color Vertical axis Hidden Maximum: Minimum: Mi
ID=1 Trends\Koito_A010\DT6_Register_AHU_S	UK Lancel Save changes

Name	This parameter specifies the series' name that must be unique within the trend and cannot contain illegal characters.	
Comment	This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the series.	
Database field	This parameter specifies the link to the database field whose values (time samples) are to be dis- played by the series.	
Series		
Color	This parameter determines the series' color. It should contrast with the background color of the trend.	

Vertical axis This option determines whether the series has its own vertical axis or uses the vertical axis common to all series. The other parameters enable you to configure the behavior of the vertical axis private to the series. The *Hidden* option can be used to hide the axis. The *Automatic* option determines whether the axis automatically adjusts its minimum and/or maximum to the series' values within the current time range. If the axis' minimum and/or maximum are not automatic, they must be specified as the *Minimum* and/or *Maximum* parameters.

2.6.6 Real-time trend manager

The **Real-time trend manager** allows you to define and configure real-time trends. The real-time trend is an object used for graphic presentation of a sequence of the most recent values (time samples) of the selected variables. The values (time samples) are only stored in the memory, not in a database. The real-time trend can be displayed in runtime mode by the *Real-time trend* component placed into a project window.

Real-time trend parameters

🔀 Real-time trend manager			l ×
] 🗀 😹 💒 🛼 🗍 🗠 🖻 🐰 💼 🙀 🗙 👘		Name	
) 🕮 ĝi 🖻 🔊 🗷		A010	
E- Real-time trends		Comment	
DT6_Register_AHU_STAT_A010 DT6_Register_CPA_A010 DT6_Register_DAT_A010 DT6_Register_DAT_A010 DT6_Register_DAT_CALC_SETPOINT_J	4010		
		Update type	
		defined interval O variable controlled	
		interval length (ms):	ŧ
T			
Name V.	ariable	visible point count:	3
DT6_Register_AHU_STAT_A010 K0	ITO.DTE	-	
DT6_Register_CPA_A010 KO	ITO.DTE	🗖 Stop variable 😼 💥	
DT6_Register_DAT_A010 KO	ITO.DTE		
DT6_Register_DAT_CALC_SETPOINT_A010 K0	ITO.DTE		
		OK Cancel Save changes	
ID=1 Real-time trends\A010			

Name

This parameter specifies the trend's name that must be unique within the project and cannot contain illegal characters.

- *Comment* This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the trend.
- Update type This parameter determines when to update the trend (i.e. when to add the next time sample to the trend). Updating can be done periodically (*defined interval*) at the specified time interval (*interval length (ms)*) or on the leading edge (the off-to-on transition) of the specified binary-type variable (*variable controlled*).
- Visible point count This parameter specifies the number of points (time samples) to be displayed by the trend.

Stop variable This parameter determines whether to use the specified binary-type variable to control updating the trend. If the value of the variable is equal to zero, updating is enabled. Otherwise, updating is disabled.

Real-time trend series parameters

🔀 Real-time trend manager	
] 🗀 😹 💒 🛼 🗍 🗠 🖻 👗 💼 🙀 🗙	Name
📖 👌 🗈 🔕 🗷	DT6_Register_AHU_STAT_A010
Real-time trends A010	Comment
DT6_Register_CPA_A010 DT6_Register_DAT_A010 DT6_Register_DAT_A010 DT6_Register_DAT_CALC_SETPOINT_A010	
	Variable
	KOITO.DT6_Register_AHU_STAT_A010
	Series
Name Variable	
MDT6_Register_AHU_STAT_A010 K0IT0.DT	
DT6_Register_CPA_A010 K0IT0.DT6	
DT6_Register_DAT_A010 K0IT0.DTf	
DT6_Register_DAT_CALC_SETPOINT_A010 K0IT0.DT6	
ID=1 Real-time trends\A010\DT6_Register_AHU_STAT_/	OK Cancel Save changes

Name	This parameter specifies the series' name that must be unique within the trend and cannot contain illegal characters.		
Comment	This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the series.		
Variable	This parameter specifies the link to the variable whose values (time samples) are to be displayed by the series.		
Series			
Color	This parameter determines the series' color. It should contrast with the background color of the trend (see the chapter 2.9.13 REAL- TIME TREND).		

Line width

This parameter determines the width (in pixels) of the line used for drawing the series.

2.6.7 Report manager

The **Report manager** allows you to define and configure reports. The report is an object used for graphic presentation of the data stored in a database(s) in a tabular format. Reports can be displayed, printed and exported in runtime mode via the report viewer.

Report parameters



Name	This parameter specifies the report's name that must be unique within the project and cannot contain illegal characters.
Comment	This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the report.
Database	This parameter specifies the link to the database whose contents are to be displayed by the report.
Report elements	These parameters determine which elements to include in the report.
Grid	These parameters determine whether to display grid lines on the background.
Row height	This parameter determines the height (in pixels) of a single row of the report. It may affect the num- ber of rows displayed on a single page of the report.

Report title

🔏 Report manager				_ D ×
] 🗅 🗊 🧆 📌 🔢 🗠 🐘 X		Parameters	Report title Column header F	age footer
) 🖽 👌 🖻 🔊 🜌			eport name	
E- C Reports		Koito A01	0	
📋 🗄 🗜 🛅 Koito_A010		1		
Date		Title	Background	Band height
DTS Begister AHU STAT AD	10			
DT6_negister_MI0_STAT_A0		Font		
DT6_Register_DAT_A010				
DT6_Register_ERT_A010				
DT6_Register_OP_COMM_A01	0		Color	Width: 1
DIG_Register_RAI_AU1U	310			
DT6_negister_nFAN_STAT_A	JIO —	Alignmen	t —	
DT6 Register RWT A010		C Left	 Center 	C Right
DT6_Register_SFAN_STAT_A(010 🚽			
	Ì			
Name	l Databa			
- Date				
Solution And State And St	Koito			
as DT6_Register_CPA_A010	Koito			
as DT6_Register_DAT_A010	Koito			
as DT6_Register_ERT_A010	Koito			
SDT6_Register_OP_COMM_A010	Koito	Preview		
as DT6_Register_RAT_A010	Koito	TICTICH		
as DT6_Register_RFAN_STAT_A010	Koito		Koito AO1	0
as DT6_Register_RMT_A010	Koito			
as DT6_Register_RWT_A010	Koito			
STAT_A010	Koito			
I=SDT6 Begister STP0INT A010	Knitn		OK Cancel	Save changes
ID=1 Reports\Koito_AUTU				

Use report name	This option determines whether to use the report's name as the title.
Title	This parameter specifies the text to be displayed in the report header using the specified font.
Background	This parameter specifies the background color of the title. The color should contrast with the text color.
Band height	This parameter specifies the height (in pixels) of the report header band.

Frame	This parameter determines whether to frame the
	report header with a line of the specified color and width (in pixels).
Alignment	This parameter determines the alignment of the title within the report header.

Column header

🔏 Report manager	
🗋 🔁 🐟 📌 🔢 🗠 🖹 X	Parameters Report title Column header Page footer
🖽 🛃 🖻 🔊 🗊	
E S Koito A010	Color Width: 1
Date	
Time	
DT6_Register_AHU_STAT_A010	Height: 30 ෫
DT6_Register_CPA_A010	
DI6_Register_DA1_AU10	
DTS Periotes OR COMM 4010	
DT6_Register_DF_COMM_A010	
TE Register RFAN STAT A010	
DT6_Register_RMT_A010	
DT6_Register_RWT_A010	
DT6_Register_SFAN_STAT_A010	-1
	-
Name Data	a
Date	
Time	
SDT6 Register AHU STAT A010 Koito	
SDT6 Register CPA A010 Koito	
SDT6 Register DAT A010 Koito	
SDT6_Register_ERT_A010 Koito	
SDT6_Register_OP_COMM_A010 Koito	Bravian
SDT6_Register_RAT_A010 Koito	Preview
STAT_A010 Koito	
SDT6_Register_RMT_A010 Koito	
SDT6_Register_RWT_A010 Koito	
STAT_A010 Koito	
SDT6 Register STPOINT A010 Koito	OK Cancel Save changes
ID=1 Reports\Koito_A010	

Frame

Height

This parameter determines whether to frame the column header with a line of the specified color and width (in pixels).

This parameter specifies the width (in pixels) of the column header.

Page footer

🔀 Report manager	
🗅 🗈 🐟 📌 🛛 🗠 🖻 X	Parameters Report title Column header Page footer
) 💷 24 🖻 🔕 🗷	Text on the footer
E-C Reports	
🖻 🔂 Koito_A010	Alimnant
Date	Alignment
Time	Font © Left C Center C Right
DT6_Register_AHU_STAT_A010	
DI6_Register_UPA_AU10	
DT6_Register_DA1_AUT0	
DT6_Register_CR_A010	
DT6 Register BAT A010	C Left C Center C Right
DT6 Register RFAN STAT A010	
DT6_Register_RMT_A010	
DT6_Register_RWT_A010	
DT6_Register_SFAN_STAT_A010	
Name Data	
Pate	Color Height: 25 🛨
S Time	
SDT6 Begister AHLI STAT AD10 Koito	
SDT6 Begister CPA A010 Koito	
SDT6 Begister DAT A010 Koito	
SDT6 Begister EBT A010 Koito	
DT6 Begister OP COMM A010 Koito	
SDT6 Begister BAT A010 Koito	Preview
SDT6 Begister BEAN STAT A010 Koito	Page number
SDT6 Begister BMT A010 Koito	-
SDT6 Begister BWT A010 Koito	
DT6 Begister SEAN STAT A010 Koito	,,
DI6 Begister STPOINT A010 Koito	
ID=1 Reports\Koito_A010	Lancel Save changes

Text on the footer	This option determines whether to display the
	specified text on the footer of each page of the
	report using the specified font and alignment.
Page numbers	This option determines whether to display the page number on the footer of each page of the report using the specified font and alignment.

Page numbers and text on separate rows

This option determines whether to print the page number and footer text on separate rows. If this option is not active, the footer is printed on a single line. BackgroundThis parameter specifies the background color of
the footer.HeightThis parameter specifies the height of the footer.

Report item parameters

Parameters

Image: Constraint of the second se	
Image: Second	
Reports Trine Solito AD10 Comment Comment Solito AD10 SolitoAD10 Solito AD10 Solito AD10 Solito AD10	
E Soito_A010 Solutional Comment Solutional Comment Solutional Comment	
Comment Satisfies the State All St	
🖁 🛥 DT6_Register_CPA_A010	
- 🖞 🐟 DT6_Register_DAT_A010	
Data source	
DIS_Register_UP_CUMM_AUTU	
Koito_A010.DT6_Register_OP_COMM_A010	
- B - B - B - B - B - B - B - B - B - B	
DT6_Register_SFAN_STAT_A01	
Font. Color. 0 ##	
Name Databa	
🔋 🐀 DT6_Register_CPA_A010 Koito 📥	
🕴 🐟 DT6_Register_DAT_A010 Koito Column order: 6 📥 Column width: 150	'e
🕴 🐀 DT6_Register_ERT_A010 Koito	
End Contemporary Comm_A010 Kolte Alignment	
Solution Conter C Binht	
State	
B AND T6_Register_RMT_A010 Koito Preview	
Second Se	
DT6 Register OP COMM A01	
S = DTG_Register_STPUINT_A010 Koto	
S = DTC = Characteristic ERU_AUTU Koto	
ID=7 Reports/Koito A010/DT6 Register OP C0 OK Cancel Save chang	jes

Name

This parameter specifies the item's name that must be unique within the report and cannot contain illegal characters.

Comment This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the item.

Data source	This parameter specifies the link to a data source. The data source may be a database field or date or time of a database record. For the most part, the first two report items are linked to date and time, and the other report items are linked to database fields.
Text	
Font	This parameter determines the font of the item's text.
Background	
Color	This parameter determines the background color of the item's text.
Value format	This parameter specifies the format string to be used when converting the item's value to text for display purposes. It is only used for report items linked to numeric database fields.
Column order	This parameter determines the order of the item's column within the report. By default, this para- meter is equal to zero and column order within the report corresponds to the order, in which the items were added to the report (i.e. according to increasing ID). Column order can be changed by specifying this parameter.
Column width	This parameter specifies the width (in pixels) of the item's column.
Alignment	This parameter specifies the alignment of the item's text within the item's column.
Item title



Use item name	This option determines whether to use the item's name as the column title.
Title	
Font	This parameter determines the font of the item's column title.
Background	
Color	This parameter determines the background color of the item's column title.
Alignment	This parameter specifies the alignment of the item's column title within the column.

2.6.8 Print report manager

The **Print report manager** allows you to define and configure print reports. The print report is an object used for graphic presentation of current values of the selected variables in a user-defined format. Print reports can be displayed, printed and exported in runtime mode via the print report viewer.

When defining a new print report, it is necessary to prepare a template in text or HTML format and save it to a disk file. The template may also include graphic elements if using HTML format. To mark the place where the value of a variable should occur in the template, use a special character string with the following format: **{\$Item_name}**. **Item_name** is the name specified for the print report item.

Print report parameters

🔀 Print report manager	
] 🗅 🔀 🐟 🔊 🖪 🖪 🖉 🖉 🗠 🗎	Name
🎫 ĝļ 🖻 🔊 🛐	Koito_A010
Print reports DT6_Register_CPA_A010 DT6_Register_DAT_A010 DT6_Register_ERT_A010 DT6_Register_ERT_A010 DT6_Register_RMT_A010 DT6_Register_RMT_A010 DT6_Register_AHU_STAT_A010 DT6_Register_DAT_CALC_SETPOIN DT6_Register_RFAN_STAT_A010 DT6_Register_RFAN_STAT_A010 DT6_Register_SFAN_STAT_A010	Comment Source file C:\r3_enu\Projects\Koito\PrintReports\A010.txt Load report items Preview
Name Vari	
SDT6_Register_CPA_A010 K SDT6_Register_DAT_A010 K SDT6_Register_ERT_A010 K SDT6_Register_RAT_A010 K SDT6_Register_RAT_A010 K SDT6_Register_RMT_A010 K SDT6_Register_RMT_A010 K	
ID=1 Print reports/Koito_A010	OK Cancel Save changes

Name

This parameter specifies the report's name that must be unique within the project and cannot contain illegal characters.

Comment

This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the report.

Source file	This parameter specifies the file that contains the template for the report.
Load report items	This command is used to load the contents of the source file to update the list of report items.
Preview	This command is used to preview the report.

Print report item parameters

A print report item corresponds to the mark contained in the template for the report.

🖾 Print report manager	
Print report manager	Name DT6_Register_CPA_A010 Comment ✓ KDIT0.DT6_Register_CPA_A010 ✓ display units © test value: 21 occurrence count:
ID-1 Print reports Visito AD100DT6 Register CP	DK Cancel Save changes

Name

This parameter specifies the item's name that must be unique within the print report and cannot contain illegal characters.

Comment This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the item.

Variable This parameter specifies the link to the variable whose value is to be displayed on the place(s) marked in the template.

display units	This option determines whether to display units of measurement after the value of the variable.
test value	This parameter specifies the value to be used instead of the current value of the variable when previewing the report.
occurrence count	This parameter indicates how many times the item occurs in the template. It is updated every time the list of items is updated by the <i>Load report items</i> command.

2.6.9 Recipe manager

The **Recipe manager** allows you to define and configure recipes. The recipe is an object representing a group of variables. It is used to store current values of the variables to a disk file. The stored recipe can later be loaded from the file and transferred to the respective stations.

Recipe parameters

🕅 Recipe manager					
] 🗀 🐯 🐟 📌 🛛 🗠 🗈 👗 💼	🔄 🗙	Name			
) 🖽 ĝļ 🖻 🔊 🗷		A010			
		Comment			
DT6_Coil_RESET_PMP_A010 DT6_Register_AHU_STAT_A010 DT5_Parities_CPA_A010 DT5_Parities_CPA_A010					
DT6_Register_DAT_A010		_Recipe op	eration acces	ss rights	
DT6_Register_ERT_A010 DT6_Register_RAT_A010		using:	🗾 🗙 Reci	ipe operations	
DT6_Register_RMT_A010	I T_A010	saving:	🚅 🗙 Reci	ipe operations	
Name	Variable	deletion:	🗾 🗙 Reci	ipe operations	
ST6_bStatus_RDP_A010	KOITO.DT6_bStatu	–Becine tra	unsfer to a sta	tion	
SDT6_Coil_HPU_A010	KOITO.DT6_Coil_H KOITO.DT6_Coil_F	confirmation		System.A010_Re	ecipeAck
≪SDT6_Register_AHU_STAT_A010	KOITO.DT6_Regist KOITO.DT6_Regist	- I⊽ Automa	atic transfer—		
© DT6_Register_DAT_A010	KOITO.DT6_Regist	control:	😽 🗙 Systi	em.A010_Recipe	eCti
DI6_Register_ERI_A010 DI6_Register_RAT_A010 DI6_REGISTER_RAT_A000 DI6_REGISTER_RAT_A000 DI6_REGISTER_RAT_A000 DI6_REGISTER_RAT_A000 DI6_REGISTER_RAT_A000 DI6_REGISTER_RAT_A000 DI6_REGISTER_RAT_A000	KOITO.DT6_Regist	prefix:	📩 🗙 Syst	em.A010_Recipe	Prefix
SD16_Register_HMT_A010	KUITU.DT6_Regisl KOITO.DT6_Regisl		01/		
ID=1 Recipes\A010				Lancel	bave changes

Name	This parameter specifies the recipe's name that must be unique within the project and cannot contain illegal characters.
Comment	This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the recipe.

Recipe operation access rights

using	This parameter specifies the access rights required for using the recipe (i.e. loading the stored recipe from a file into the respective stations).
saving	This parameter specifies the access rights required for storing the recipe to a file (i.e. creating a stored recipe).
deletion	This parameter specifies the access rights re- quired for deleting the recipe (i.e. deleting the file containing the stored recipe).
Recipe transfer to a station	
confirmation	This parameter specifies the link to the binary-type variable that should receive con- firmation (by setting the value to 1 by the runtime module) of loading the stored recipe from a file and transferring it to the respec- tive stations. This parameter is optional.
Automatic transfer	
control	This parameter specifies the link to the binary-type variable to be used to control the automatic transfer of a stored recipe to the respective stations (the transfer does not re- quire the operator's command). The transfer is performed on the leading edge of the variable (the off-to-on transition).
prefix	This parameter specifies the link to the string- type variable to be used to control the prefix of the name of the file containing the stored re- cipe to be transferred to the respective stations.

Recipe item parameters



Name This parameter specifies the item's name that must be unique within the recipe and cannot contain illegal characters.

- Comment This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the item.
- Variable This parameter specifies the link to the variable whose value is to be stored as part of a stored recipe.

2.6.10 Picture manager

Graphic elements are usually used in visualizing projects for better illustration and more precise appearance. They can be divided into raster and vector graphics formats, i.e. bitmaps and vectors. *Reliance* works with raster files in the *.*bmp*, *.*jpg* and *.*gif* format as well as *.*wmf* and *.*emf* vector formats. Bitmaps are raster pictures with fixed resolution (size in pixels). Bitmaps are in general more effective than vector graphics. However, if their size is changed, deformations and loss of picture information occur. All vector graphics formats are saved as mathematically defined curves and no quality loss occurs, if their size changes.

Graphic elements in *Reliance* are commonly called pictures. *Reliance* lets you manage pictures via the *Picture manager*. The *Picture manager* can operate either on graphic files stored in a directory structure (the so-called Picture library, which is not part of a visualizing project and is common to all projects) or on a picture database (which is part of a visualizing project).

Using the Picture manager for managing the Picture library

To use the **Picture manager** for managing the **Picture library**, choose the \rightarrow **Tools** \rightarrow **Picture library**... command. The **Picture library** is located in the directory defined via the **Environment options** dialog (see the chapter 2.3.3.1 PATHS). When operating on the **Picture library**, the **Picture manager** enables you to create a directory structure (displayed as a folder structure in the top left pane of the dialog), import graphic files to the library from various locations using the appropriate target folder, view the list of graphic files (displayed as a list of pictures in the right pane of the dialog) located in the selected folder, and view and/or edit the selected picture. It is useful to prepare a library of frequently used pictures. You can use the pictures located in the »Pic« directory on the installation CD.



Description of toolbar commands

🖻 👔 | 🗅 🍖 🗙 | 🦉 💕 🕍 | 🛃 - 🎞 - | 🧵

🖻 Up	This command is used to move the selection one level up in the folder (directory) structure.
☑ Update	This command is used to: 1) Update the display of the pictures after modifying them via an external application run by choosing the <i>Edit</i> command. 2) Update the list of pictures after adding or deleting picture file(s) to/from the current folder (directory).
🗅 Add	This command is used to create a new folder (directory).
🚈 Rename	This command is used to rename the selected pic- ture (picture file) or folder (directory).
× Remove	This command is used to delete the selected pictures (picture files) and/or folders (directories).
🔊 Import	This command is used to copy graphic files (*.bmp, *.gif, *.jpg, *.wmf, *.emf) from the source location to the current folder (directory).
🖭 Export	This command is used to export pictures to graphic files (*.bmp, *.gif, *.jpg, *.wmf, *.emf).
∠ Edit	This command is used to run an external applica- tion (defined via the <i>Environment options</i> dialog) in order to edit the picture. After editing the picture and closing the application, you have to choose the <i>Update</i> command in order for the chan- ges to be reflected immediately in the preview.
≜↓ Sort	This command is used to sort the pictures by various categories.
💷 Display	This command is used to change the display style of the pictures (<i>List, Details, Miniatures</i>).
I. Exit	This command is used to close the <i>Picture manager</i> .

Using the Picture manager for managing a picture database

If you want to use a picture in a visualizing project, it must be first imported to a picture database of the project via the **Picture manager**. If the picture is to be only used in a single project window, it should be imported to the picture database of the window. Otherwise, it should be imported to the shared picture database. To use the **Picture manager** for managing the picture database of the window, choose the **> Window picture manager**... command from the window's local menu. To use the **Picture manager** for managing the shared picture database, choose the **> Managers > Shared picture manager** command.

When operating on a picture database, the *Picture manager* enables you to create a single-level folder structure (displayed in the top left pane of the dialog), import pictures to the database from various locations (preferably from the Picture library) using the appropriate target folder, view the list of pictures (displayed in the right pane of the dialog) included in the selected folder and view and/or edit the selected picture.

🔀 Picture manager - Shared pict	ures				
🖻 🗿 🗅 🌞 🗙 🖹 🖉	¥ ≵↓ - Ⅲ - ≞.				
💐 Shared pictures	🔺 Name		Туре	Picture size	File size
Cooling	filtr_failure		Bmp	58x108	18 KB
Fans	filtr_off		Bmp	58x108	18 KB
	📖 filtr_on		Bmp	58x108	18 KB
Motors Pumps Regulators Valves					
Items: 3 Selected: 1	filtr_on	Bmp	58x108	18 KB	1.

Description of toolbar commands



This command is used to move the selection one level up in the folder structure.

😰 Update	This command is used to update the pictures after modifying them via an external application run by choosing the <i>Edit</i> command.
🗎 Add	This command is used to create a new folder.
🚈 Rename	This command is used to rename the selected picture or folder.
× Remove	This command is used to delete the selected pictures and/or folders.
🐮 Import	This command is used to import pictures from graphic files (*. <i>bmp</i> , *. <i>gif</i> , *. <i>jpg</i> , *. <i>wmf</i> , *. <i>emf</i>) to the picture database.
🕙 Export	This command is used to export pictures from the picture database to graphic files (*.bmp, *.gif, *.jpg, *.wmf, *.emf).
≧ Edit	This command is used to run an external applica- tion (defined via the <i>Environment options</i> dialog) in order to edit the picture. After editing the picture and closing the application, you have to choose the <i>Update</i> command in order for the changes to be applied immediately. Otherwise, you will be asked whether you want to apply the changes when closing the <i>Picture manager</i> .
≜ ↓ Sort	This command is used to sort the pictures by various categories.
🔳 Display	This command is used to change the display style of the pictures (<i>List, Details, Miniatures</i>).
🚨 Exit	This command is used to close the <i>Picture manager</i> .

2.6.11 Script manager

In *Reliance*, it is possible to configure most of the behavior and properties of the runtime environment by setting visualizing project options and the properties of individual components. For special actions that cannot be realized this way, *Reliance* is equipped with a possibility to write pieces of program code – so-called scripts. The script in *Reliance* is a piece of program code written in the *Visual Basic Script* programming language (hereinafter referred to as *VBScript*). The script may perform calculations, operations with variables, databases and files, send e-mail or GSM SMS messages and perform many other operations. An important feature is communication with external applications through a COM/DCOM interface. Thus, it is possible to connect to an application (MS Word or MS Excel) from a script and call its procedures and functions.

Each script in *Reliance* can be of one of the following types:

- Time scripts
- Key scripts
- On value change scripts
- Periodic scripts
- Condition scripts
- Event scripts

Common script parameters

These parameters are common to scripts of all types. Each script can also have additional specific parameters depending on its type.

Name	This parameter specifies the script's name that must be unique within the project and cannot contain illegal characters.
Priority	This parameter specifies the script's priority of processing. The priority increases with the value of this parameter.
Comment	This parameter can be used to specify an optional description of the script.
Max. script execution time	This parameter specifies the maximum execution time for the script. If the time is exceeded, the script is forcibly terminated. This feature might be useful when debugging the application to prevent the script from hanging (e.g. due to a continuous loop). However, terminating the script is a very dangerous operation, which may cause the run- time module to hang or crash. Therefore, it is strongly recommended to revert to the default va-

lue of zero in the final version of the application. If the parameter is equal to zero, the execution time is not limited.

Disable script execution This option determines whether the script is disabled by default. If this option is active, the script cannot be executed. However, the script can get enabled or disabled from another script's code (see the Script help).

2.6.11.1 Time scripts

Time scripts get executed every day at the specified time including the possibility of periodical repetition with the specified time interval.

Scripts Image: Scripts Scripts Scripts D16_bStatus_DFLTR_A010_0 Script 1D: 13 Condition D16_bStatus_DFLTR_A010_0 Vent Max. script execution time: Image: Script script script is: Cut_Shift_F10 Dut_Shift_F10 Image: Script script execution D16_bStatus_DFLTR_A010 Image: Script execution Image: Script execution Image: Script is: Disable script execution Image: Script execution Image: Script F12 D16_bStatus_DFLTR_A010 Image: Script execution Image: Script Script F12 D16_bStatus_DFLTR_A010 Image: Script execution Image: Script Script Script Script Instered Script execution Image: Script instered Script execution Image: Script instered Script Execute: Image: D16_bStatus_DFLTR_A010 Image: Script instered Script execution Image: Script instered Script Execute: Image: Script instered Script Execute: Image: D16_bStatus_DFLTR_A010 Image: Script Execute: Image: Script Execute: Image: Script Execute: Image: Script Execute: Image: D10_am Script Image: Script Execute: Image: Script Execute: Image: Script Execute: Image: Script Execute: Image: Daystart Hour Start Image: Scrip	🖾 Script manager			
Image: Solution of the second of the seco	<u>Scripts</u> <u>Edit</u> <u>Tools</u> <u>H</u> elp			
Scripts Condition D16_bStatus_DFLTR_A010_0 Verat AtterStartProject InitGlobals Key D16_bStatus_DFLTR_A010 Cut_Shift_F10 Dut_Shift_F12 D16_bStatus_DFLTR_A010 Time_clobals Verat D16_bStatus_DFLTR_A010 Time_script execution time: D17_bStatus_DFLTR_A010 Time_clobals D16_bStatus_DFLTR_A010 Time_clos Time_20s Time_clos Time_5 DayStart HourStart Morestart Morestart MinuteStart	🗵 🗅 🖶 🏉 🛼 🗙 🗠 🗠 📔	RSys.ActivateWindow	🗵 🐨 🖌 🔡 Source code	Properties
	 Scripts Condition D T6 bStatus_DFLTR_A010_0 Vent AfterStartProject InitGlobals Key Shift_F10 Crtl_Shift_F11 Crtl_Shift_F12 On value change D T6_bStatus_DFLTR_A010 Periodic Time_10s Time_20s Time_5s Time_5s Ime 10_am 6_am 8_am DayStart HourStart MinuteStart 	General properties: Name: MinuteStart Comment: Max. script execution time: 0	Priority: 0 ★ ms. in \$ec. 0 ★: 0 ★ x: 0 ★ \$ec. 0 ★	Script ID: 13

Script first execution time

This parameter determines the time of the first execution of the script.

Execute

Only once	This option determines whether to execute the script only once at the specified time.
Repeat with interval	This option determines whether to execute the script periodically with the specified time interval until the time specified by the <i>Repeat until</i> parameter. If this parameter has the value of 0 hours, 0 minutes, 0 seconds, the time is only limited by midnight.

2.6.11.2 Key scripts

Key scripts get executed when the specified key shortcut is pressed.

Scripts Edit Iools Help Scripts Scripts Condition Scriptis Dif_bStatus_DFLTP_A010_0 Script1D:4 Condition Script1D:4 Off_bStatus_DFLTP_A010_0 Script1D:4 Conserver Max: script execution time: Off_bStatus_DFLTP_A010_0 Script1D:4 Comment: Max: script execution time: Max: script execution time: Off_ms. Cht_Shift_F10 Comment: No value change Dif_bStatus_DFLTP_A010_0 Periodic Time_10s Time_20s Time_20s Time_5 Sam 8_am DayStatt HourStart MinuteStart	🔀 Script manager			<u> </u>
Image: Scripts Image: Scripts Image: Scripts Image: Scr	<u>S</u> cripts <u>E</u> dit <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp			
Scripts Condition WaterStatus_DFLTR_A010_0 Event AtterStatus_DFLTR_A010_0 Event Max.script execution time: Ott_Shift_F10 Cut_Shift_F11 Cut_Shift_F12 On value change Time_10s Time_20s Time_5 10_am 6_am 8_am DayStart HourStart MinuteStart	🗵 🗅 🗉 🛑 🛼 🗙 🗠 🗠 🖡	RSys.ActivateWindow	🗿 🖌 🔡 Source code	Properties
	Scripts Condition DI6_bStatus_DFLTR_A010_0 Event AfterStattProject InitGlobals Cut_Shift_F11 Cut_Shift_F12 On value change DI6_bStatus_DFLTR_A010 Periodic Timer_10s Timer_20s Timer_5s Time 8_am 0_ayStatt HourStart MinuteStart	General properties: Name: CtrL_Shift_F10 F Comment: Max. script execution time: 0 ★ ms. □ Disable script execution Key scripts: Execute on pressing of keys: Shift + Ctrl + F10	Priority: 0 *	Script ID: 4

Execute on pressing of keys

This parameter specifies the key shortcut to be pressed in order for the script to be executed.

2.6.11.3 On value change scripts

On value change scripts get executed when the specified variable changes its value or validity.



Execute on changing value of variable

This parameter specifies the link to the variable related to the script.

Run script even on value validity change

This parameter determines whether to execute the script even when the variable becomes valid (although the value remains unchanged).

2.6.11.4 Periodic scripts

Periodic scripts get executed periodically with the specified time interval.

Repeat with interval

This parameter specifies the time interval to be used for periodical execution of the script.

Execute script only after time interval

This option determines when to execute the script for the first time after it gets enabled. If this option is active, the script gets executed only after expiration of the specified time interval. Otherwise, the script gets executed right after it gets enabled.

2.6.11.5 Condition scripts

Condition scripts get executed when the specified logic condition is met including the possibility of periodical repetition with the specified time interval.

🖾 Script manager		
<u>Scripts</u> <u>E</u> dit <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp		
🗵 👌 🖬 📳 🛼 🗙 🗠 🗠	RSys.ActivateWindow	💽 📷 👻 Source code 🛛 🖀 Properties
 Scripts Condition [DT6_bStatus_DFLTR_A010_0] Event AfterStattProject InitGlobals Crd_Shift_F10 Crd_Shift_F11 Crd_Shift_F12 On value change DT6_bStatus_DFLTR_A010 Periodic Time_10s Time_5s Time_6_am 8_am DayStart HourStart MinuteStart 	General properties: Name: DT6_bStatus_DFLTR_A010_ Comment: Max. script execution time: ① ★ □ Disable script execution Condition scripts: Condition: Compare: Condition: © With constant Compare: © With variable Condition: © Condition: = Compare: Condition: © With variable Compare: Condition: = Compare: Condition: © With variable Compare: Compare: Condition: © Condition: = Condition:	Priority: 0 Script ID: 16 ms.

Compare

This option determines whether to compare the value of the variable (specified by the *Compare* parameter) with the value of the constant or with the value of the other variable (specified by the *Compare with* parameter).

Condition

Compare

This parameter specifies the link to the variable whose value is to be compared with the value of the constant or other variable (specified by the *Compare with* parameter).

Condition This parameter determines the logic condition required for the script to get executed.

Compare with	This parameter specifies the constant or link to the other variable whose value is to be used for comparison.
Execute	This option determines whether to execute the script only once after the specified logic condition gets met, or periodically with the specified time interval while the specified logic condition is still met.

2.6.11.6 Event scripts

Event scripts get executed when a certain event occurs (e.g. when a button is pressed).

🔏 Script manager			<u>- 🗆 ×</u>
<u>Scripts</u> <u>E</u> dit <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp			
🖸 🖹 🖩 🛑 🛼 🗙 🗠 🗠	RSys.ActivateWindow	💽 📷 🖌 📝 Source code 🛛 🚰 Pro	perties
Scripts Condition Conditio	General properties: Name: AfterStartProject Comment: script to be run after starting the p Max. script execution time: 0	Priority: 0 🚔 Script I roject	D: 2
CtL_Shit_F11			
→ 10_am → 10_am → 8_am → 9 DayStart → HourStart → MinuteStart			

2.6.11.7 Setting up the Script manager

Editor

Editor environment option	ns		×
Editor Templates Colors	1		
Automatic functions			
Code completion			
	í 0,5 sec.		1,5 sec.
Eurotion parameters			
I unction parameters	0.5.000	н н. Т	1.5 000
	0,0 sec.		1,5 sec.
Environment			
Save window size and	layout		
📃 🔲 Set cursor at the beginn	ning of edited	script	
Automatically supply fur	nction and pro	ocedure paran	neters
Synchronize tree diagra	am with editor		
🔲 Synchronize editor with	tree diagram		
🔽 Enable Drag & Drop op	erations in tre	e diagram	
Font			
Font size: 10 💌	Used font:	Fixedsys	
		ок	Cancel

Automatic functions These parameters enable you to configure features that make code writing easier.

Code completionThis parameter determines whether the code
editor should help you complete the code you
type in the editor. If this parameter is active,
the editor automatically displays the list of
properties and methods appropriate to any
Reliance-defined object after entering the ob-
ject's name followed by a period. You can then
select the item from the list and press *Enter* to
add it to your script. However, you can always
invoke the list of properties and methods by
pressing *Ctrl+Spacebar* (if the cursor is positio-
ned right after the period following the object's
name), even if this parameter is not active.

Function parameters This parameter determines whether the code editor should give you help on parameters of functions used in the code you type in the editor. If this parameter is active, the editor

automatically displays the list of parameters (in a pop-up window) appropriate to any predefined function after entering the function's name followed by a left parenthesis. However, you can always invoke the list of parameters by pressing *Ctrl+Shift+Spacebar* (if the cursor is positioned after the left parenthesis following the function's name), even if this parameter is not active.

Environment

Save window size and layout

This option determines whether to save the size, position and layout of the editor window before closing the *Script manager*. When the *Script manager* is opened later, the settings are restored.

Set cursor at the beginning of edited script

This option determines whether to set the cursor at the beginning of the script code after opening the script in the editor.

Automatically supply function and procedure parameters

This option determines whether the code editor should automatically supply parameters of *Reliance*-defined objects' methods (i.e. procedures and functions). If this option is active and you select a method (by double-clicking it) from the list of methods of a *Reliance*-defined object, the editor lets you select the parameters (e.g. the window to be activated) from the appropriate dialogs and adds them to your script.

Synchronize tree diagram with editor

This option determines whether to mark the script in the tree diagram when switching to the script's code in the code editor.

Synchronize editor with tree diagram

This option determines whether to switch to the script's code in the code editor when marking the script in the tree diagram. Enable Drag & Drop operations in tree diagram

This option determines whether to enable Drag & Drop operations in the tree diagram. If this parameter is active, you can use the mouse to move (by dragging) or copy (by dragging while holding the *Ctrl* key) the script to another folder.

Font size This parameter specifies the size of the font used in the code editor.

Templates

Templates include commonly used programming statements (such as *if*, *select*, and *for* statements) that you can insert into your script.

For each template, you must specify a name and code. If you type the name of a template in your script and press Ctrl+J, the template's name will be replaced by the template's code.

Editor environment o	otions		×
Editor Templates Co	olors		
🗋 New 🔡 B	idit 🛛 🔀 Di	elete	
Name C	omment		
_ifif	then		
líe if	then end		
Template code:			
if then			
end if			
		OK	Cancel

To define the position of the cursor in the code editor after inserting a template use the pipe character ("|") in the template's code.

Colors

This dialog page enables you to configure the color and font to be used in the code editor to display the script code.

Editor environment options		×
Editor Templates Colors		
Text Selected text Visual Basic keywoo Reliance object Operators Strings Mumbers Comments	rds	
Font styles Bold Italic Underline Options Use font styles Use different colors	FG S	BG
	ОК	Cancel

2.6.12 Component manager

The *Component manager* is a tool window that enables you to view and edit component properties and select components in the active window.

On the **Properties** page, there is a list of component properties. The properties may be sorted alphabetically or divided into groups. If no components are selected in the active window, the page displays the properties of the window itself. If a single component is selected in the active window, the page displays the properties of the component. If more than one component is selected in the active window, the page only displays the properties common to all the selected components. All the displayed properties can be edited.

On the *Components* page, there is a list of components contained in the active window. The page is divided into two panes.

Top pane

The top pane displays the components grouped into folders according to their type.

Bottom pane

The bottom left pane displays the components in a list. The components in the list can be sorted by one of the columns (*Name, Order, Group* and *Layer*). The list allows you to select or unselect a component in the window by toggling the checkbox next to the component's name. It is especially useful when you need to select or unselect a component hidden by another overlying component.



🕮 Display groups

This option determines whether to arrange the properties into groups. If this option is not active, the properties are sorted alphabetically.

Expand groups	This command is used to expand the groups of properties.
🕅 Collapse groups	This command is used to collapse the groups of properties.
🖄 Display localized pro	perty names
	This option determines whether to display the
	localized names (aliases dependent on the lan- guage version of the development environment) of properties instead of the actual names.
死 Display brief propert	y descriptions
	This option determines whether to display a brief
	description of the selected property in the bottom
	section of the Properties page.

Collection editor

Some components have properties of a special type called a collection. The collection is a list of items, each of which has its own properties. To view or edit a collection-type property, use the *Collection editor*.

An example of a collection-type property is the *States* property of the *Active text* component. The *States* property represents a list of texts that can be displayed by the component depending on the value of a control variable. To bring up the *Collection editor* for this property, select the component and double-click the corresponding cell in the *Component manager* or click the ellipsis button in this cell.

The *Collection editor* allows you to add and delete the items and change their order in the list. If you select one or more items in the list, you can view and edit their properties via the *Component manager*.

ActiveText1.ActItems 🔳
🛅 🏠 🛧 🗣
0 - Text1 1 - Text2 2 - Text3 3 - Text4

2.6.13 Window manager

The **Window manager** is a tool window that enables you to manage project windows (i.e. open, activate and close the windows, remove the windows from the project, add new or existing windows to the project, etc.). The **Window manager** contains a toolbar, a status bar and a list of project windows. The toolbar contains several buttons representing commands described later in this chapter. The status bar displays the name and file name of the window currently selected in the list. The list of project windows displays information in three columns (*Caption, Name* and *ID*) and can be sorted by one of the columns. Each row in the list represents a project window. A project window can be in one of two states: opened (i.e. loaded into memory) and closed (i.e. not loaded into memory). In design mode, these states are indicated by the font style used to draw the row's text (opened: bold font, closed: regular font). The icon displayed at the beginning of each row indicates the window's type (standard, dialog or tray) and the way of loading into memory (dynamic or not).

Window manager		×	3
△ Caption	Name	ID	
Bottom Tray	BottomTray	4	
Control parameters	ControlParams	3	
🗖 Initial	Initial	1	
🔊 Overview	Overview	2	
Overview Overview.scr			1.

🗖 New

ଌ Add

This command is used to create a new window and add it to the project.

This command is used to add an existing window to the project. The command brings up an open dialog and prompts you to select a project window file (the file to which the window has previously been stored). The file can be selected from any location but it is not copied to the project's »Win« directory. Therefore, the source location must always be accessible in order for *Reliance* to be able to load the window (for example, you cannot add a project window from a CD or floppy disk).



the window's file and picture database after removing the window.

💆 Open This command is used to open the window (i.e. load the window into memory and activate it).

2.6.14 Layer manager

In design mode, each component in a project window is located on a certain layer. Each project window has 16 layers named Layer0 to Layer15 by default. The system of layers gives one more dimension to a project window.

The *Layer manager* is a tool window located usually in the bottom right corner of the screen. The *Layer manager* contains a toolbar, a status bar and a list of layers of the active project window. The toolbar contains several buttons representing options and commands described later in this chapter. The status bar displays the name of the layer currently selected in the list.

Layer manager	×
🛃 🖙 aje	
☑ Displays	
🗹 Buttons	
Active pictures	
Active texts	
Animations	
Pictures	
Static texts	
Other components	•
Active texts	11.

This option determines whether the layer selected in the list is visible. If this option is active (button pressed), all the components located on the layer are visible.

> This option determines whether the layer selected in the list is locked. If this option is active (button pressed), the position and size of all the components located on the layer are locked.

> This command is used to rename the layer selected in the list. It is useful to rename the layer so that the new name describes the components located on the layer.

Visible

😁 Lock

\min Rename

2.7 INFORMATION WINDOW

The *Information window* is a tool window located at the bottom of the screen. When opening and closing a visualizing project, the *Information window* displays the current status of the operation. If the project is open and the mouse cursor is placed above a project window, the *Information window* displays the current cursor position (in pixels), the layer that the component under the cursor is located on or the active layer of the project window (if no component is under the cursor), and basic properties of the component under the cursor (name, link to the main variable and the script).

Information			×
[99,597]	Layer0	Name: Button1 Variable: K0IT0.DT4_Coil_RESET_FIRE_A006	

2.8 STANDARD DIALOG BOXES

2.8.1 Color selection dialog box

This is the standard Windows dialog box for selecting colors. You can choose a basic color or you can define your own custom colors. The custom colors get stored with the visualizing project.

Color			? ×
Basic colors:			
			•
Custom colors:			
		Hu <u>e</u> : 28	<u>R</u> ed: 248
		<u>S</u> at: 227	<u>G</u> reen: 175
\underline{D} efine Custom Colors >>	Color S <u>o</u> lid	<u>L</u> um: 120	Blue: 7
OK Cancel	A	dd to Custom (Colors

2.8.2 Font selection dialog box

This is the standard Windows dialog box for selecting fonts.

Font			? ×
Font: MS Sans Serif MS Serif Roman Script Small Fonts T2 Symbol System	Font style: Bold Regular Italic Bold Bold Italic	Size: 8 10 12 14 17 24	OK Cancel
Effects Strikeout Underline Color: Black	Sample AaBbÁáðu Script: Central European	ô	

2.8.3 Selection dialog box

This is a *Reliance*-defined multiple-purpose selection dialog box. It is used for selecting one or more objects of a certain type. It contains a toolbar, a status bar, an edit box with a drop-down list, and a list of objects. The toolbar contains several buttons representing options and commands described later in this chapter. The status bar displays the name of the object currently selected in the list.



🚨 Up

🔧 Variables

This command is used to display the objects on the immediate superior level.

Set filter This command is used to apply the filter specified in the edit box to limit the objects displayed in the list. You can either type the filter directly in the edit box or select it from the drop-down list. The filter supports wild card characters "?" (representing any single character) and "*" (representing any character string).

Solution Cancel filter This command is used to cancel the applied filter.

This command displays a drop-down menu that contains a list of data types. It enables you to filter the list of variables according to data type by deactivating particular types. This command is only available when selecting a variable.

Folders This option determines whether to display folders in the list. If this option is active and the objects

(e.g. variables) are arranged in folders, the list also displays the folders.

DisplayThis command is used to switch between different
display types.

Shared pictures This option determines whether the list of objects contains shared pictures. If this option is active, the pictures displayed in the list come from the shared picture database. Otherwise, they come from the picture database of the project window from which the dialog was activated. This option is only available when selecting a picture.

2.8.4 Access rights selection dialog box

This is a *Reliance*-defined dialog box used for selecting a set of access rights required for a certain operation (e.g. alarm acknowledgment).

Access rights		×
Servicing right		
Select all	Edit	
Config window access Commanding Common alarm ack Serious alarm ack Critical alarm ack Disable alarms Enable alarms Delete window records Recipe operations Right10 Right12 Right13	_	
OK	Cancel	

Servicing rightThis parameter determines whether to include the
Servicing right in the specified set of rights.Select allThis command is used to select all the rights in
the list.Edit...This command is used to bring up the Access right
editor to rename the rights (see the chapter 2.4.3).

2.9 COMPONENTS

Components are the building blocks of every *Reliance* visualizing project and are used to design project windows. After adding the appropriate components to a project window, you need to configure their properties. To configure the properties of several components at the same time, you need to use the **Component manager**. To configure the properties of a single component, you can also use the component's property editor (double-click on the component or choose the **) Component properties...** command from the component's local menu). The properties of individual components differ depending on their type. Therefore, each component type has a corresponding property editor. However, some properties are common to all component types (e.g. position, size, etc.). In each property editor, the properties (i.e. the controls meant for editing the properties) are well arranged in pages according to their function. The following chapter describes the pages common to property editors of several or all component types.

2.9.1 Common component properties

Basic

Display properties	×
Basic Dynamic Local menu Functions Static Units Security	
Name	
Disp_Gas_Pressure	
Position Size	
position X 384 🚔 position Y 192 🖨 width 100 🖨 height 25	- ÷
Layer	
Layer0	
☑ Show hint	
Gas pressure	
OK Cancel	Apply

Name

This parameter specifies the component's name that must be unique within the window (i.e. the

project window in which the component is placed) and cannot contain illegal characters.

PositionThese parameters specify the co-ordinates (in pi-
xels) of the upper left corner of the component.
The X co-ordinate (position X) increases from left
to right and the Y co-ordinate (position Y) from
top to bottom.SizeThese parameters specify the width and height (in

LayerThis parameter specifies the layer on which the
component is located.Show hintThis option determines whether to display the

pixels) of the component.

This option determines whether to display the specified help hint when the mouse cursor rests momentarily on the component.

Dynamic



Visible

This option determines whether to control the visibility of the component in runtime mode by the specified variable. If this option is active, the component is only visible, when the value of the control variable is not equal to zero.

X	This option determines whether to control the ho- rizontal position (the X co-ordinate) of the compo- nent in runtime mode by the specified variable. The control variable only determines an incre- ment (decrement) in the horizontal position rela- tive to the design mode position, not the absolute horizontal position.
Y	This option determines whether to control the ver- tical position (the Y co-ordinate) of the component in runtime mode by the specified variable. The control variable only determines an increment (decrement) in the vertical position relative to the design mode position, not the absolute vertical position.
Width	This option determines whether to control the width of the component in runtime mode by the specified variable. The control variable only deter- mines an increment (decrement) in the width rela- tive to the design mode width, not the absolute width.
Height	This option determines whether to control the height of the component in runtime mode by the specified variable. The control variable only deter- mines an increment (decrement) in the height re- lative to the design mode height, not the absolute height.

Local menu

These parameters enable you to specify the local menus to be shown when clicking individual mouse buttons on the component in runtime mode.

Button properties		×
Basic Dynamic	Local menu Scripts Functions Static States Security	
Show menu on	clicking mouse button	-
Left		
Middle	E ×	
Right	Strange PumpButton_Menu	
	OK Cancel Apply	

Scripts

These parameters enable you to specify the scripts to be executed when clicking or double-clicking individual mouse buttons on the component. You can also specify the parameters to pass to the scripts.

Button	properties	;							×
Basic	Dynamic	Local menu	Scripts	Functions	Static	States S	ecurity		
Run	script on a	licking mou	se butto	n ——					_
☑	Left	邊 🗙 В	uttonClick	ed			Parameter	β	÷
	Middle	3×					Parameter	0	A 7
	Right	3×					Parameter	0	A V
-				•					
Hun	script on o	louble click	ing mous	e button					
	Left	ЭX					Parameter	0	A V
	Middle	3×					Parameter	0	A 7
	Right	SX					Parameter	0	A V
					OK		Cancel	Ap	ply

2.10 TIPS AND TRICKS

This chapter provides several tips and tricks to help you develop your application more easily and efficiently.

2.10.1 Adding several components of the same type to a window

To add several components of the same type to a project window, press the *Shift* key while selecting the component on the component palette. Then click the left mouse button on the window area to place the component as many times as needed. To terminate this mode, click the arrow icon on the component palette.

2.10.2 Fine moving and sizing components

To slightly move the components currently selected in a project window, press and hold down the *Ctrl* key while pressing the arrow key representing the direction in which you want to move the components.

To slightly resize the components currently selected in a project window, press and hold down the *Shift* key while pressing the arrow key representing the direction in which you want to resize the components.

2.10.3 Selecting several components

To invert the selection of a component in a project window, press and hold down the *Shift* key while clicking on the component.

2.10.4 Defining a link to a variable or item

When invoking a selection dialog to define a link to an object, such as a variable or item, you can influence which object in the list is initially selected (by default, it is the object defined by the existing link). To preselect the object most recently selected via the selection dialog, press and hold down the *Shift* key, while invoking the dialog. To preselect the first object on the top level of the object hierarchy, press and hold down the *Ctrl* key, while invoking the dialog.

2.10.5 Starting a project automatically after turning on a computer

Sometimes it is desired to start the visualizing project in runtime mode automatically after turning on a computer. First, configure the operating system's profile of the user on whose behalf the project is to be running, so that it starts the project automatically after user log-on. Then, configure the operating system, so that it automatically logs on the user.

Starting a project automatically after user log-on

- 1. Create a shortcut to the project on the Windows desktop via the *Create* shortcut to the project dialog (see the chapter 2.4.4 CREATING A SHORT-CUT TO THE PROJECT). Specify a runtime module (*Reliance runtime*, *Reliance runtime server* or *Reliance server*) as the value of the *Application* parameter.
- 2. Move the shortcut to the Windows »Startup« folder.

Automatic user log-on in Windows NT/2000

Windows NT/2000 operating systems can be configured to automatically log on the specified user. The user must have administrator access rights and a password longer than 4 characters.

- 1. Start the *regedt32.exe* (located in the »System32« subdirectory) or *regedit.exe* application.
- 2. Find the DefaultDomainName, DefaultUserName, DefaultPassword keys in HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Microsoft\Windows NT\CurrentVersion\Winlogon (if the DefaultPassword key does not exist, it must be created with the data type REG_SZ), and supply information on the user as values of those keys (domain, name, password).
- 3. Enter "1" as the value of the *AutoAdminLogon* key (if the key does not exist, it must be created with the data type *REG_SZ*).
- 4. Save changes and restart the system. If everything is specified correctly, the operating system logs on the specified user automatically after restarting.
- WARNING If the user's password is blank or shorter than 4 characters, the operating system logs on the user automatically after restarting only for the first time. Then the system changes the AutoAdminLogon key's value to "0", thus deactivating the automatic user log-on feature.

2.10.6 Safe termination of a project during power failure

If the computer running the visualizing project is powered by a UPS (Uninterruptible Power Supply), it is recommended to configure the UPS driver to safely terminate the project before shutting down the operating system in case of a long-term power failure. First, it is necessary to copy the program $R_Termin.exe$ (located in the »Utils« directory on the installation CD) to the hard disk. Then configure the UPS driver to run the program before shutting down the operating system. This ensures safe termination of the visualizing project.

2.10.7 Optimization of graphic efficiency

This chapter contains information that can help you develop applications that are more graphically efficient and do not uselessly overburden the computer. The main goal is to minimize the computer's load caused by drawing graphics in a *Reliance* application.

Each picture used in a project should have its color depth and total size optimized. Ideally, you should edit the pictures in a graphic editor that enables you to save the pictures only with colors used. The graphics format of the picture (e.g. *.*bmp*, *.*gif*, *.*jpg*, etc.) does not directly affect the application's performance. However, it affects the disk space occupied by the picture.

Windows raster (*.bmp)	This is an uncompressed format suitable for small pictures only. The main disadvantage is a direct dependency of file size on picture size.
CompuServe raster (*.gif)	This is a compressed format suitable for pictures with small number of colors (the format supports 256 colors only) and for pictures used as trans- parent.
JPEG raster (*.jpg)	This is a compressed format suitable, for example, for photographs. The format is not suitable for pictures used as transparent.
Windows metafile (*.wmf), <i>extended Windows metafile</i> (* <i>.emf</i>) These are vector formats suitable, for example, for

technical schemes.
These are several factors that affect the computer's load caused by drawing graphics in a *Reliance* application:

- Animation speed (applies to the *Animation* component): It is controlled by the component's *Interval* property, which specifies the time interval of switching between the pictures. The shorter the interval, the higher the animation speed, the heavier graphical load.
- Picture transparency (applies to all the components that draw pictures): It is controlled by the component's *Transparent* property which determines whether the picture's background should be considered transparent. Drawing pictures as transparent increases graphical load. It is recommended to avoid using transparent pictures whenever possible (especially with the *Animation* component). Instead, use the same color for the picture's background as used for the window's background.
- Picture display mode (applies to all the components that draw pictures): It is controlled by component's *Layout* property which affects whether the picture is drawn in its original size (*glNormal*, *glByImage*, *glTile*) or not (*glByObject*). Drawing pictures as stretched or compressed increases graphical load. It is strongly recommended to use pictures in their original size whenever possible (especially with the *Animation* component).
- Relative position of components: If several components overlap with one another, graphical load increases. If one of the components needs to be redrawn, it causes all the overlapping components to be redrawn, too. It is recommended to avoid overlapping components that are redrawn frequently (especially the *Animation* component) with components whose drawing is time-consuming (e.g. the *Picture* component displaying a large picture).

2.10.8 Optimization of communications to subordinate stations

This chapter contains information that can help you develop applications with efficient communications to subordinate stations (e.g. PLC controllers). The main goal is to minimize the computer's load caused by the communications and reduce the time necessary to transfer the latest data from the stations to the application.

When assigning an address to variables in a station (e.g. PLC controller), try to concentrate the variables with identical update interval (time interval used by the communication driver to periodically update its image of the station's memory) into a continuous memory area.

When defining communication zones for a station, try to cover as many variables (with identical update interval) as possible with a single zone. As for the communications, it is much more efficient to define a small number of long zones than a large number of short zones. Sometimes, it is better to define a long zone, even if it covers unused memory areas, than define several shorter zones.

3. TECHNOLOGICAL DATA DISTRIBUTION OVER THE INTERNET/INTRANET

3.1 BASIC PRINCIPLES OF COMMUNICATION ON THE INTERNET

Computers in the Internet can be divided into two basic groups – clients and servers. The client is a computer that requests data from a server. The server is a computer that processes the requests and sends a response back to the client. This principle also applies when viewing a Web page via a Web browser running on the client. The requested page is determined by an address specified in the browser. The address contains a unique name – the server address. The server returns the content of the page as a response and the client browser displays it.

In order to be able to receive and process the client's requests, the server must run a special type of program called a service. If the service provides clients with access to Web pages, the server may be called a Web server.

3.1.1 Services for publishing on the Internet

In Windows, publishing on the Internet is provided by *Internet Information Services* (IIS for short, in Windows 2000 Professional, Server and Windows NT 4 Server) and *PeerWeb Server* (Windows NT 4 Workstation). These programs change the computer into a fully functional Web server.

Upon installing these programs, a home directory for all the HTML pages provided by this server is created on the hard disk of the computer (typically »c:\InetPub\wwwroot«).

To display the IIS console in Windows 2000, choose the > Start > Settings > Control Panels > Administration Tools > Internet Services Manager command.

🗺 Internet Information Services			_ 🗆 ×
📙 Action Yiew 🗍 🖨 🔿 🔁 💽	J 🗙 😭 🕼	3 😢] 💂 ▶ ■ ॥	
Tree	Name	Path	
Internet Information Services	Gripts Gripts Gripts Gripts Grinters Gownload Printers Gownload Printers Gownload Printers Gownload Printers Gownload Printers Gownload Printers Gownload Printers Gownload Gownload Gripts Gownload Gripts G	c:\inetpub\scripts c:\winnt\help\iishelp C:\WINNT\System32\inetsrv\iisadmin c:\program files\common files\system\msadc C:\WINNT\web\printers	•

After selecting the *Default Web Site* item in the left pane of the dialog, start the corresponding service (if it is not already running) by clicking on the *Start service* button on the toolbar. Then it is possible to open any HTML document located in the home directory using a Web browser (for example, to open the document *Test.htm* located in the home directory of the computer *Server1*, specify the address <u>http://Server1/Test.htm</u> in the Web browser). If the computer is not networked currently, it is possible to open the document locally (specify the address <u>http://localhost/Test.htm</u> in the Web browser).

For more information regarding IIS see the Windows Help.

3.1.2 Java applets

The applet is a program written in the *Java* programming language and is designed to run inside a Web browser. It can be included in an HTML page and stored on a Web server. When you view the HTML page using a Web browser running on a client computer, the applet is downloaded along with the page and run inside the browser. Java applets are platform independent, i.e. they can run on any operating system that supports Java applications.

3.2 RELIANCE AND THE INTERNET/INTRANET

Once the *Reliance* application is developed, it can be easily made accessible to remote users over the Internet/intranet through the *Reliance J* Web client. First, it is necessary to export the visualizing project to a special format suitable for the Web client (the so-called WWW format). Open the project in the development environment and choose the \rightarrow *Project* \rightarrow *Export to WWW format...* command. This will bring up the *WWW format export wizard*, which will guide you through the export process. The project in the WWW format consists of compressed project files, applet program files and an HTML page (*index.htm*) that references the applet.

3.2.1 Reliance J

The *Reliance J* Web client is a Java applet designed for running a visualizing project using a standard Web browser that supports the Java programming language (e.g. Microsoft Internet Explorer 4 and higher, Netscape Communicator 4 and higher). The Web client provides a powerful and easy way to access the technology from remote locations over the Internet/intranet.

3.2.2 Starting Reliance J

The *Reliance J* Web client (i.e. the applet) can be started in two ways.

From a Web page (the preferred way)

To start the applet from a Web page, run a Web browser and specify the address of the Web server and path to the *index.htm* page. For example, if the project is located in the *App1* subdirectory of the home directory for the HTML pages on the Web server *www.appserver.com*, specify the address <u>http://www.appserver.com/App1/index.htm</u> in the Web browser. The rest is done automatically. First, the browser downloads the applet (along with the *index.htm* page) from the Web server and starts it. Next, the applet downloads the visualizing project from the server or *Reliance runtime server*), it tries to establish a TCP/IP connection to the data server running on the Web server. Otherwise, the applet searches in the project directory on the Web server for the MEM files to obtain current technological data.

Locally

If the project has been exported to a local drive, run the batch file *run.bat* located in the same directory as the project in the WWW format. First, the batch file starts the applet in a Web browser. Next, the applet loads the visualizing project from the local drive and opens it. If the applet is configured to use a data server (*Reliance server* or *Reliance runtime server*), it tries to establish a TCP/IP connection to the data server running on the computer specified through the *WWW format export wizard* (see the chapter 3.3 WWW FORMAT EXPORT WIZARD). Otherwise, the applet searches in the project directory on the local drive for the MEM files to obtain current technological data. No Web server is required.

This way of starting the applet can be useful in these situations:

- When developing and debugging the application; this way, you can try data communication between the Web client and a data server even on a single, non-networked computer.
- When the connection to the Internet is very slow; since the project in the WWW format is located on a local drive, the Web client starts very quickly. The connection to the Internet is only used for data communication.

3.2.3 Reliance J and data communication

The Reliance J Web client (i.e. the applet) can obtain current technological data in two ways.

TCP/IP (the preferred way)

If the applet is configured to use a data server (*Reliance server* or *Reliance runtime server*), it tries to establish a TCP/IP connection to the data server running on the Web server (if the applet has been downloaded from a Web page) or any specified computer (if the applet has been started locally). Once the connection is established, it can be used by the applet to update current technological data and alarms, download historical trends and alarms, send commands and acknowledge alarms.

Communication on the TPC/IP connection is optimized for size of transferred data. For each Web client, there is a so-called virtual account maintained by the data server. The virtual account contains information on changes in current data and alarms of all the stations provided to the Web client by the data server. This feature enables the Web client to request only the changes. The number of Web clients that can concurrently be connected to the data server is limited by the license purchased for the data server.

MEM files

If the applet is configured to use the MEM files, then it can only obtain current data of the stations. It cannot obtain current alarms, download historical trends and alarms, send commands and acknowledge alarms. These limitations originate from the fact that no data server is required to be running on the Web server. The applet obtains current data of the stations by periodically reading the MEM files updated by a runtime module running on the Web server or another computer. The MEM files contain a binary image of the stations' memory and must be located in the same directory on the Web server as the visualizing project in the WWW format. The following two files are always created:

- *sys.mem* (contains the *System* station's current data)
- web.mem (contains current data of the other stations)

For information on how to configure saving current technological data to the MEM files for the Web clients, see the chapters 2.6.2.2 DEFINING COMPUTERS, 2.6.2.4 CONNECTING STATIONS and 2.6.2.9 DEFINING A STATION PROVIDED THROUGH A NETWORK CONNECTION.

3.3 WWW FORMAT EXPORT WIZARD

This chapter describes the process of exporting the existing visualizing project to the WWW format.

WWW format export wizard	×
Target directory selection Here you choose a directory for export of the project for www.clients.	and the second
Target directory Choose a www.network.shared.directory.(egC:\InetPub\www.root).	
Server/Inetpub/www.root/	
< Back Next >	Cancel

This step enables you to choose the target directory for the project in the WWW format. You can specify a network path as shown in the picture. However, you can also export the project to a local drive and copy it to the Web server later. In order for the Web clients to be able to access the project over the Internet/intranet, the project directory on the Web server must be shared on the WWW network. Preferably, choose the home directory for the HTML pages or its subdirectory.

vW format export wizard			
Computer selection Here you choose a computer to co	onfigure www.clients	by.	and the second
Computer WWW clients will be able to access the windows etc.) connected to this comp	ne objects (stations, luter.	status message:	s,
Server1			
Read System station data			
	(< Back)	Next >	Cancel

This step enables you to choose the computer (i.e. logical computer defined via the **Project structure manager**) by which the Web clients should be configured. The Web clients will be able to access only the objects (stations, windows, etc.) available to this computer.

The *Read System station data* parameter determines whether the Web clients should request current data of the *System* station.

WWW format export wiza	nd	×
Visualization dimension Here you choose the	ons current project resolution.	SELLER CE
Resolution Choose the current project visualization will automatic	st resolution in pixels. Dimensions of a www.client cally be recalculated if the client uses a different resolution.	
🔿 640 × 480	O other resolution	
🔿 800 × 600	width 1 024	
1024 × 768	height 768	
🔿 1280 × 1024		
	< Back Next > Car	ncel

This step enables you to choose the point resolution (in pixels) of the project (the resolution, for which the project has been designed). If the Web client is run on a computer with a different resolution, all the graphic elements will be adjusted accordingly.

WWW format export wizard
Data update type Here you choose a connection type and parameters depending on your requirements.
Data update interval
Interval (s) 5
Connection type
C MEM file
Data will be obtained by periodical reading of the MEM files. This type of connection does not enable commanding and viewing of status messages and trends.
Data will be obtained by the TCP/IP protocol from the data server (Reliance server or Reliance runtime server). If the applet is started from a WWW page, it connects to the WWW server from which it has been downloaded.
Timeout (s) 20
Enable commanding and status message acknowledgment by WWW clients
< Back Next > Cancel

This step enables you to configure data communication for the Web clients.

Data update interval This parameter specifies the time interval to be used by the Web clients for updating current technological data (and alarms, if the *Connection type* parameter is set to TCP/IP).

Connection type This parameter determines the type of connection of the Web clients to a data source (see the chapter 3.2.2 RELIANCE J AND DATA COMMUNICATION).

Timeout This parameter specifies the maximum time period between sending a request to and receiving a response from the data server by the Web client. If the data server does not respond to the request within the time specified, the communication is recognized as faulty and the Web client's connection status changes to offline.

Enable commanding and message acknowledgment by a WWW client

This parameter determines whether to enable the Web clients to send commands and acknowledge status messages (e.g. alarms).

#W format export wizard			
Starting the applet locally Here you can configure starting the	applet from a lo	cal drive.	RELATION OF
The applet can be started even from a are located on a local drive and will not	local drive. Appl t be downloaded	et program files and every time the app	d project files blet starts.
Enable starting the applet locally			
Server If using this way of starting the app specify the IP address or the name the applet can connect to. Server 127.0.0.1 A batch file will be created in the to to start the applet locally.	let you need to of the server th arget directory o	at fexport. Use the b	atch file
	< Back	Next>	Cancel

This step enables you to configure starting the applet from a local drive.

Enable starting the applet locally

This option determines whether the applet can be started from a local drive. If this option is active, the project in the WWW format will also include the batch file *run.bat* for starting the applet locally.

Server

This parameter specifies the IP address or system name of the computer on which the data server (*Reliance server* or *Reliance runtime server*) will be running. You can even specify the local IP address (127.0.0.1) in order to be able to run both the applet and the data server locally (i.e. on a single computer).

WWW format export wizard	×
Fluent browsing Here you choose cached window count.	AND
Window count	
Choose window count for the applet to leave in temporary memory (cache) while browsing through project windows. This option enables quick return to previously open windows.	
Window count	
< Back Next >	Cancel

This step enables you to configure the fluency of browsing through project windows in the Web client.

Window countThis parameter specifies the number of project
windows for the applet to store in a temporary
memory while browsing through project windows.This feature enables you to quickly return to pre-
viously open windows.



This step enables you to generate the project in the WWW format. After the completion of the operation, the following files and subdirectories should be present in the target directory:

Applet files:

- reli.jar
- reliobj.jar
- relictrl.jar
- reliimg.jar
- mmedia.jar
- jx.jar
- chart.jar
- grid.jar
- reli.cab
- reliobj.cab
- relictrl.cab
- reliimg.cab
- mmedia.cab
- jx.cab
- chart.cab
- grid.cab
- index.htm
- index2.htm

- run.bat
- run2.bat
- close.htm
- loading.gif

Project files in directories:

- »...\windows«
- »...\system«
- »...\syspix«
- »...\dowload«
- »...\help_cz«
- »...\help_en«

3.4 SW REQUIREMENTS

SW required on a server side

- If the Web client is to be started from a Web page located on the server (the usual and preferred way), a service for publishing on the Internet (e.g. Internet Information Services, PeerWeb Server, Apache or similar) must be running on the server.
- If the Web client is configured to use a data server (*Reliance server* or *Reliance runtime server*), the data server must be running on the server. The WWW version of the project must correspond to the project running in the data server (i.e. the WWW version of the project must be generated from the same project as the one running in the data server) and to the version of the data server program.

SW required on a client side

A Web browser capable of displaying Java applets must be installed on the client. It is recommended to use Internet Explorer (IE) version 5 and higher with Java Virtual Machine (JVM) build 3802. The version of JVM can be detected through the Java language console in IE (see the IE Help). The update of JVM or IE can be downloaded from <u>www.microsoft.com</u>.

4. **APPENDIXES**

4.1 ILLEGAL CHARACTERS

The names of non-visual objects (e.g. stations, variables, databases, etc.) cannot contain the character to be used to separate name parts when building the complete name of an object (see the *Naming rules* section in the chapter 2.4.2.6 MISCELLANEOUS).

The names of visual objects (i.e. project windows and components) can only contain the characters of the English alphabet, digits and the underscore character. The first character must not be a digit.

When naming files and objects of any kind in *Reliance* visualizing projects, it is recommended to avoid using the following characters:

Special characters: ! ? @ # \$ % ^ & * () + - ` % { } / \ , " < > = ; : ' | § . Letters with diacritics: ě š č ř ž ý á í é ů ú ď ť ň Ě Š Č Ř Ž Ý Á Í É Ů Ú Ď Ť Ň

4.2 FILE AND DIRECTORY STRUCTURE

4.2.1 Reliance program files

Install directory

(»c:\Reliance3« by default)

Reliance.exe	– Reliance design
Reli_rt.exe	– Reliance runtime
Reli_rts.exe	- Reliance runtime server
Reli_srv.exe	– Reliance server

Applet subdirectory

(»c:\Reliance3\Applet« by default)

Applet.zip	– <i>Reliance J</i> applet program files
Extras.zip	– Reliance J applet additional files
Help.zip	– <i>Reliance J</i> applet help files

Components subdirectory

(»c:\Reliance3\Components« by default)

– Active picture
- Active text
– Animation
- ActiveX container
– Bar
– Bevel
– Button
– Circle
– Combo box
– Display
– Ellipse
– Gauge
– Grid

IRC.dll	– IRC
Line.dll	– Line
MMPlayer.dll	– Media player
Picture.dll	– Picture
Pipe.dll	– Pipe
Popup.dll	– Local menu
Progress.dll	– Progressbar
Radio.dll	– Radio buttons
RoundBar.dll	– Round bar
RTChart.dll	– Real-time chart
RTTrend.dll	– Real-time trend
SauHol.dll	– Sauter - holiday program
SauProg.dll	– Sauter - time program
Scale.dll	– Scale
Text.dll	– Text
TimeProg.dll	– Time program

4.2.2 Visualizing project files

Project root directory

*.prj	 the visualizing project's main file containing ba- sic parameters of the project
*.dsk	 the visualizing project's desktop file containing development environment settings related to the project

Alarms subdirectory

This is the default directory for storing the databases of status messages.

CmdMsg.*	– command messages
ErrMsg.*	– alarm messages
SysMsg.*	– system messages

Apps subdirectory

This directory is intended to contain external programs to be run from the visualizing project.

Data subdirectory

This is the default directory for storing the data databases.

MMedia subdirectory

This directory is intended to contain multi-media files used by the visualizing project (e.g. *.wav format sound files).

Pix subdirectory

This directory contains picture databases of project windows and the shared picture database.

Pix_*.*	– picture database of a project window
Pix_Shared.*	– shared picture database

Profiles subdirectory

This directory contains runtime environment settings for individual users defined in the visualizing project.

Recipes subdirectory

This directory is intended for storing recipe files.

System subdirectory

This directory contains system databases of the visualizing project.

Alarms.*	– defined status messages
CommZones.*	– defined communication zones
Computers.*	– defined computers
DatabaseFields.*	– defined database fields
Databases.*	– defined databases
DatabasesConn.*	– connected databases
DbReportItems.*	– defined report items
DbReports.*	– defined reports

DbReportsConn.*	 connected reports
DbTrends.*	– defined trends
DbTrendsConn.*	– connected trends
DbTrendSeries.*	– defined trend series
Dispatchings.*	– defined control areas
Folders.*	– defined folders
IdReg.dat	– information on assigned IDs
NetConnectionGroups.*	– defined network connection groups
NetConnections.*	- defined network connections
Printers.*	– defined printers
PrintReportItems.*	– defined print report items
PrintReports.*	- defined print reports
PrintReportsConn.*	- connected print reports
RecipeItems.*	– defined recipe items
Recipes.*	– defined recipes
RecipesConn.*	– connected recipes
RTTrends.*	– defined real-time trends
RTTrendSeries.*	– defined real-time trend series
Scripts.*	– defined scripts
Stations.*	– defined stations
StationsConn.*	– connected stations
StationsNetConn.*	– network-connected stations
Users.*	– defined users
Variables.*	– defined variables
Windows.*	– defined windows

Win subdirectory

This directory contains project window files.

*.scr – project window file

4.3 POINT RATING OF RELIANCE VISUALIZING PROJECTS

The size of the visualizing project is one of the main factors affecting the price of the license needed to develop the project and run it at the end user site. The size is determined by the number of data points used in the project. The number of data points depends on the number and data type of variables defined in the project.

The following rules hold true:

- Variables defined within the *System* station do not affect the number of data points.
- Each variable of a simple data type (e.g. *Bool*, *Byte*, *Word*, *String*, etc.) uses one data point.
- Each array-type variable uses one or more data points. If the element count is less than or equal to five, the variable uses one data point. Otherwise, the number of data points is equal to the element count divided by five (the result is rounded in the direction of zero to the nearest integer).
- The number of data points in design and runtime mode can differ. In design mode, all the stations defined via the *Station manager* are considered. In runtime mode, only the stations connected to the computer via the *Project structure manager* are considered.

To view the number of data points used in a visualizing project, open the project in the development environment and choose the \rightarrow *Project* \rightarrow *Information...* command. This will bring up the *Project information* dialog.